
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Ron Schrieber, Democratic Services Officer, 
Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422524

E-mail: ron.schrieber@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 22 October 2018

Website: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 31 OCTOBER 2018 AT 6.30 PM

THE RIDGEWAY, THE BEACON, PORTWAY, WANTAGE, OX12 9BY

Members of the Committee:
Sandy Lovatt (Chairman)
Janet Shelley (Vice-
Chairman)
Stuart Davenport
Robert Hall

Jenny Hannaby
Anthony Hayward
Bob Johnston

Ben Mabbett
Catherine Webber

Substitutes Councillors
Yvonne Constance
Margaret Crick
St John Dickson

Katie Finch
Chris Palmer
Helen Pighills

Julia Reynolds
Emily Smith
Reg Waite

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on this 
agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.



2

1. Chairman's announcements  

To receive any announcements from the chairman, and general housekeeping 
matters.

2. Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.  

3. Minutes  (Pages 4 - 10)

To adopt and sign as correct records the Planning Committee minutes of the 
meetings held on 26 September and 3 October 2018.  

4. Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

5. Urgent business  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent.  

6. Public participation  

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.  



3

Planning applications

All the background papers, with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (e.g. within Enforcement Files) used in the following reports 
within this agenda are held (normally electronically) in the application file (working 
file) and referenced by its application number.  These are available to view at the 
Council Offices (135 Milton Park, Milton) during normal office hours.

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.

Summary index of applications

Site Address Proposal Application No Page.

7. Parklands 
School, 
Besselsleigh, 
Appleton, 
Oxford  

Refurbishment and conversion of the 
existing Manor House into eight 
apartments. Demolition of all other 
existing outbuildings and extension to 
Manor House. Erection of 36 new 
dwellings comprising nine apartments 
within extension to Manor House and 
27 houses within the grounds of the 
site. Retention of the existing site 
access, plus new associated parking 
and landscaping.

P18/V0359/FUL 11 - 25

8. 3 Sandford 
Lane, 
Kennington, 
Oxford, OX1 
5RW  

Demolition of existing bungalow, 
erection of two x one-bedroom and 
three x two-bedroom apartments, 
associated off street parking, private 
amenity space, refuse and cycle 
storage.

P18/V1483/FUL 26 - 44

9. Land south of 
Red Gables, 
Longcot  

Part retrospective: proposed 
replacement dwelling.

P18/V1820/FUL 45 - 61

10. Heritage, 63A 
Oxford Road, 
Abingdon  

Change of use from a C3 dwelling 
house to a seven-bedroom house of 
multiple occupation (sui generis).

P17/V2711/FUL 62 - 76

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic 



Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee Minutes 

Wednesday, 26 September 2018  Pl.1 

Minutes 

of a meeting of the 

Planning Committee 

held on Wednesday, 26 September 2018 at 6.30 pm 
in the The Ridgeway, The Beacon, Portway, 
Wantage, OX12 9BY 
 

 

 

Open to the public, including the press 
 

Present:  
 
Members: Councillors Sandy Lovatt (Chairman), Janet Shelley (Vice-Chairman), 
Stuart Davenport, Robert Hall, Anthony Hayward, Ben Mabbett, Judy Roberts (substituting 
for Bob Johnston) and Catherine Webber 
 
Officers: Holly Bates, Katherine Canavan, Emily Hamerton, Nicola Meurer and Josh Sharp 

 

 

Pl.56 Chairman's announcements  
 
The chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed, 
and advised on emergency evacuation arrangements. 
 

Pl.57 Apologies for absence  
 
Councillors Jenny Hannaby and Bob Johnston had tendered their apologies; Councillor 
Judy Roberts substituted for Councillor Johnston. 
 

Pl.58 Minutes  
 
RESOLVED: to adopt the minutes of the committee meeting held on 22 August 2018 as a 
correct record and agree that the chairman sign them as such. 
 

Pl.59 Declarations of interest  
 
Councillor Ben Mabbett declared that in relation to application P18/V1158/HH – 16 
Hampden Road, Wantage, although he is a member of Wantage Town Council, he was 
not present for the consideration of this application by the town council’s planning 
committee. He had briefly spoken to the objector to advise that he send his statement to 
members prior to the committee. 
 

Pl.60 Urgent business  
 
There was no urgent business. 
 
 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes 

Wednesday, 26 September 2018  Pl.2 

Pl.61 Public participation  
 
The list of registered public speakers was tabled at the meeting. 
 

Pl.62 P17/V1082/O - Land south of Park Road, Faringdon  
 
The committee considered a series of design amendments to the hybrid application 
P17/V1082/O for the demolition of existing building/structures and the comprehensive 
redevelopment of land south of Park Road, Faringdon; comprising up to 380 residential 
dwellings (use Class C3) including affordable homes, provision of an extra care facility 
(use Class C2 or C3), the provision of land for a school (use Class D1), vehicular, 
pedestrian and cycle access from Park Road and Sands Hill, parking, public open space, 
landscaping, sustainable drainage, and other associated works. The amendments only 
relate to this phase: 
 
'Phase 1' (Full details): 103 residential dwellings (use Class C3), access and parking, 
public open space, landscaping, sustainable drainage, parking and other associated 
works. 
Outline: up to 277 residential dwellings (use Class C3), Extra Care Facility (use Class C3 
or C2), land for a school (use Class D1), access and parking, 
public open space, landscaping, sustainable drainage, parking and other associated work 
with all matters reserved. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting. 
 
Officer updates: 

 The Urban Design Officer had now commented on the application and had no 
issues with the proposed changes. 

 Work is continuing on the S106 agreement between the developer, Oxfordshire 
County Council and Vale of White Horse officers to word the legal agreement; the 
amendments have not resulted in any adjustments to the contributions. 

 
Jonathan Dodd, the applicant’s agent, spoke in support of the application. 
 
A motion, moved and seconded, to authorise the head of planning to approve the 
application was declared carried on being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to authorise the head of planning to grant outline planning consent and 
planning permission for application P17/V1082/O, subject to: 
 

I. A Section 106 legal agreement being entered into in order to ensure 
financial contributions towards local infrastructure and to secure 
affordable housing; and 

II. Conditions (or provision in S106 as appropriate) as follows: 
 
Full Application 

1. Commencement three years. 
2. Approved plans. 
3. Material details to be agreed. 
4. Slab level details to be agreed. 
5. Landscaping details to be agreed (including additional tree planting, 

Page 5



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes 

Wednesday, 26 September 2018  Pl.3 

tree pit details, streetlighting details and a management and 
maintenance plan). 

6. Tree protection and method statement to be agreed. 
7. Construction environmental management plan for biodiversity (phased). 
8. Water supply infrastructure impact study and connection points to be agreed. 
9. Sustainable surface water drainage scheme to be agreed. 
10. Foul drainage details to be agreed. 
11. Piling method statement to be agreed. 
12. Construction traffic management plan (including dust management 

plan) to be agreed. 
13. Access and visibility splays details to be agreed. 
14. Field access to be closed details to be agreed. 
15. Cycle parking details to be agreed. 
16. Phased contaminated land risk assessment to be agreed. 
17. Boundary treatment details to be agreed (incl. to substation and 

pumping station). 
18. Scheme of noise mitigation to be agreed. 
19. Residential travel plan incl. residential travel packs. 
20. Details of mitigation measures in air quality assessment to be 

agreed. 
21. Validation report of any previously approved remediation works to 

be agreed. 
22. Prior to 50th occupation – emergency access onto Sands Hill formed 

details to be agreed. 
23. School parking and square in place prior to occupation of school. 
24. Mitigation to be undertaken in accordance with the written scheme 

of investigation. 
25. Landscaping implementation. 
26. Hours of construction and demolition work. 
27. Turning and parking areas to be provided. 
28. Garages to be retained for parking purposes. 

 
Outline 

1. Commencement two years after reserved matters approval, 
reserved matters within three years. 

2. Reserved matters to be submitted. 
3. Approved plans list. 
4. Construction environmental management plan for biodiversity 

(phased) to be agreed. 
5. Phased contaminated land risk assessment to be agreed. 
6. Foul water drainage details to be agreed. 
7. Water supply infrastructure impact study and connection points to 

be agreed. 
8. Foul drainage details to be agreed. 
9. Sustainable surface water drainage scheme to be agreed. 
10. Piling method statement to be agreed. 
11. Slab level details to be agreed. 
12. Tree protection and method statement to be agreed. 
13. Construction traffic management plan (including dust management 

plan) to be submitted. 
14. Biodiversity enhancement plan to be agreed. 
15. Slab level details to be agreed. 
16. Details of mitigation measures in air quality assessment to be 

Page 6



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes 

Wednesday, 26 September 2018  Pl.4 

agreed. 
17. Validation report of any previously approved remediation works to 

be agreed. 
18. Scheme of noise mitigation to be agreed. 
19. Landscape scheme implementation. 
20. Prior to occupation of extra care home – travel plan. 
21. Hours of construction and demolition work. 
22. Mitigation to be undertaken in accordance with the written scheme 

of investigation. 
23. In accordance with approved housing mix. 

 
 

Pl.63 P18/V1158/HH - 16 Hampden Road, Wantage  
 
The committee considered application P18/V1158/HH for a first-floor extension at 16 
Hampden Road, Wantage. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting. 
 
Kevin Harris, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application.   
 
In response to questions raised by the committee, the officers reported that it would not be 
reasonable to scrutinise building regulation matters at the planning stage. 
 
A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was declared carried on being 
put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P18/V1158/HH, subject to the 
following conditions: 
 

1. Commencement within three years. 
2. Development to be built accordance with approved plans. 
3. Materials in accordance with approved form and drawings. 

 
The meeting closed at 7.10 pm 
 

Page 7



Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee Minutes

Wednesday, 3 October 2018 Pl.1

Minutes
of a meeting of the
Planning Committee
held on Wednesday, 3 October 2018 at 6.30 pm
in the The Ridgeway, The Beacon, Portway, 
Wantage, OX12 9BY

Open to the public, including the press

Present: 

Members: Councillors Janet Shelley (Vice-Chairman in the Chair), Robert Hall, 
Jenny Hannaby, Anthony Hayward, Bob Johnston, Ben Mabbett and Catherine Webber

Officers: Charlotte Brewerton, Emily Hamerton, Nicola Meurer, and Penny Silverwood

Also present: Councillor Helen Pighills

Pl.64 Chairman's announcements 

The chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed 
and advised on emergency evacuation arrangements.

Pl.65 Apologies for absence 

Councillor Sandy Lovatt had tendered his apologies.

Pl.66 Declarations of interest 

Councillor Robert Hall declared in relation to applications P18/V0492/FUL and 
P18/V0493/LB – The Old Gaol, Abingdon, that although he is a member of Abingdon Town 
Council, he does not sit on the planning committee and was therefore not present for the 
consideration of these items.

Pl.67 Urgent business 

There was no urgent business.

Pl.68 Public participation 

The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak was tabled at the 
meeting.

Page 8



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes

Wednesday, 3 October 2018 Pl.2

Pl.69 P18/V0113/FUL - Land to the East of Portway Cottages, Reading 
Road, East Hendred, Wantage 

The committee considered application P18/V0113/FUL for a variation of Condition 8 of 
P15/V2560/FUL (proposed residential development of 46 dwellings) to remove the 
requirement for bus stops and associated works on the A417 and replace the requirement 
for a Toucan type pedestrian crossing to a Puffin type crossing as per a technical safety 
audit from Oxfordshire County Council Highways Authority on land to the east of Portway 
Cottages, Reading Road, East Hendred.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

Dr. John Sharp, a representative of East Hendred Council, spoke objecting to the 
application.  

Mark Beddow, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application.  

Ken Dijksman, the applicant’s agent, spoke in support of the application.

A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was declared carried on being 
put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P18/V0113/FUL, subject to the 
following conditions and subject to a deed of variation.

Officers note that pre-commencement conditions have been discharged
on the original application and that works at this site have been completed
for the crossing. Therefore the following conditions will be required to be
implemented as per those details approved by application P17/V0251/DIS.

1. Time limit (full application).
2. Approved plans.
3. Roads and footpaths prior to occupation.
4. Construction traffic management plan.
5. Hours of work.
6. Protection of archaeological features.
7. Archaeological watching brief.
8. Access.
9. Off site highways works.
10.Car parking area.
11.Bicycle parking.
12.Noise.
13.Landscaping scheme (implementation).
14.Tree protection.
15.Maintenance of open space/play areas.
16.Materials (samples).
17.Sustainable drainage scheme.
18.Boundary details in accordance with plan.
19.Slab levels (dwellings).
20.No windows or rooflights (dwelling).
21.Obscured glazing (opening).

Page 9



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes

Wednesday, 3 October 2018 Pl.3

Pl.70 P18/V0492/FUL - The Old Gaol, Bridge Street, Abingdon 

Planning application P18/V0492/FUL and listed building consent application 
P18/V0493/LB, for a change of use of a section of ground floor space to form three 
apartments and retrospective consent is also sought for the erection of blockwork 
partitions to the same space at The Old Gaol, Bridge Street, Abingdon. The committee 
considered both applications together, but voted on them separately.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

Shaun Dominic, the applicant, spoke in support of the applications.

Helen Pighills, one of the local ward councillors, spoke to the applications.  

A motion, moved and seconded, to authorise the head of planning to approve the 
application was declared carried on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to authorise the head of planning to grant planning permission for application 
P18/V0492/FUL, subject to:

I. Completion of a unilateral undertaking between the applicant and Oxfordshire County 
Council to secure the removal of the residential units from eligibility for parking permits 
in the adjacent controlled parking zone.

II. The following planning conditions:

1. Approved plans.
2. Details of grate covering courtyard of unit 3.
3. Sound insulation mitigation measures.
4. Obscure glazing.

Pl.71 P18/V0493/LB - The Old Gaol, Bridge Street, Abingdon 

Details of this application and public speakers are detailed in minute item 70.

A motion, moved and seconded, to approve application P18/V0493/LB was declared 
carried on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant listed building consent for application P18/V0493/LB, subject to the 
following conditions:

1. Approved plans.
2. Details of heat insultation, means of escape, fire protection, vents,

flues and extracts.
3. Details of grate covering courtyard of unit 3.

The meeting closed at 7.45 pm

Page 10



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 31 October 2018

APPLICATION NO. P18/V0359/FUL
SITE Parklands School Besselsleigh Appleton Oxford
PARISH BESSELSLEIGH
PROPOSAL Refurbishment and Conversion of the existing 

Manor House into 8 apartments. Demolition of 
all other existing outbuildings and extension to 
Manor House. Erection of 36 new dwellings 
comprising 9 apartments within extension to 
Manor House and  27 houses within the 
grounds of the site. Retention of the existing site 
access, plus new associated parking and 
landscaping.

WARD MEMBER(S) Anthony Hayward
APPLICANT Millgate
OFFICER Martin Deans

RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that authority to grant planning permission is 
delegated to the Head of Planning subject to the completion of section 106 
obligations for financial contributions, and subject to the following 
conditions:

Standard
1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Approved plans.

Prior to commencement
3. Contaminated land.
4. Piling methodology.
5. Ecology licenses.
6. Tree protection.

Prior to occupation
7. Materials as specified.
8. Biodiversity enhancement in accordance with details.
9. Surface water drainage in accordance with details.
10. Foul drainage in accordance with details.
11. Landscaping and tree species details.
12. Tree methodology statement.
13. Details of external lighting.
14. Landscaping implementation and management plan.
15. Boundary treatments.
16. Access and off-site works in accordance with details.
17. Parking in accordance with plans.
18. Residents’ travel information packs.
19. Noise mitigation in accordance with details.

Page 11

Agenda Item 7

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/V0359/FUL


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 31 October 2018

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 This application comes to committee because it is a major application to which 

Besselsleigh Parish Meeting object. The site is the former Parklands School 
which lies between Besselsleigh and Appleton on the A420. The site has 
lawful use as a school. It comprises a number of buildings in two groups, a 
group in the north-east part of the site focussed on the Manor House, originally 
a Victorian manor-style house from the mid-C19th, and a line of staff cottages 
in the south east of the site. The site area is approximately 9.5 hectares. There 
is an existing vehicular access from the A420. A site location plan is below.

1.2 Two public footpaths lie in close proximity, Besselsleigh Footpath 10 to the 
north east of the site, and Fyfield Footpath 2 to the south west of the site. 
Ancient Woodland also borders the side and the Grade II* Church of St 
Lawrence and Grade II gate pier of the Manor House lie to the east of the site. 
The whole of the site is within the Oxford Green Belt.

1.3 The application seeks full planning permission to demolish the modern 
extensions to the Manor House, all the other modern school buildings, and the 
staff cottages. A new extension would be added to the Manor House and a 
total of 17 new apartments would be created through this extension and 
conversion of the retained part of the house. A total of 27 new houses would 
be built within the grounds; 15 to the north-east to replace the existing school 
buildings behind the Manor House, and 12 to the south-east as replacements 
for the staff cottages. Improvements would be made to the access with the 
A420.

Page 12



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 31 October 2018

1.4 Amended plans have been submitted to address the design, tree and 
landscape concerns, following discussions with the relevant officers. 
Amendments have also been made to the proposed access arrangements 
from the A420. Extracts form the plans are attached at Appendix 1.

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS

Besselsleigh Parish 
Meeting

Objection. Impact on Greenbelt, effect on A420, 
effect on local surroundings of the character and 
nature of the development

Appleton With Eaton 
Parish Council

No objection. Comments on road safety and 
footpath connections

Neighbours Objections have been received from one neighbour 
which can be summarised as follows:

 Contrary to green belt policy
 Unsustainable location
 Harm to the wider landscape
 Potential for highway danger

Oxfordshire County 
Council Highways

No objection to the principle of the access 
modifications, subject to conditions
Request for a financial contribution towards 
improved public transport on the A420

Conservation Officer No objections to amended plans

Housing Officer No objection subject to securing financial 
contribution for off-site affordable housing

Drainage Engineer No objections subject to conditions

Urban Design Officer No objections to amended plans

Landscape Architect No objection subject to details regarding internal 
and external boundary treatments, tree planting 
species, lighting and a landscape implementation 
and management plan

Forestry Team No overall objections but concern over future 
pressure on a retained mature oak tree

Countryside Officer No objection subject to conditions

Environmental 
Protection Team 

Request noise survey due to proximity to A420

Page 13



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 31 October 2018

Thames Water 
Development Control

No objection subject to piling method statement due 
to close proximity of underground water and utility 
infrastructure.

Contaminated Land No objection subject to conditions

County Archaeologist No objections

The Woodland Trust Objection. Deterioration and disturbance to Collier’s 
Copse  (ancient woodland) to the north of the site

Oxford Green Belt 
Network

Objection. Inappropriate development in the green 
belt, inappropriate design, potential light pollution, 
traffic issues, and harm to landscape setting

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 P89/V0321 - Approved (02/08/1989)

Retention of a portakabin.

P87/V0267 - Approved (03/08/1987)
Retention of a portakabin.

P86/V0256 - Approved (06/02/1986)
Conversion of existing loggia on ground floor of accommodation block to 
provide one bedroom for existing staff flat.

P85/V0218 - Approved (16/08/1985)
Retention of a portakabin to provide offices for social worker and school burser.

P84/V0268 - Approved (16/11/1984)
Retention of a portakabin to provide offices for social worker and social bursar.

P83/V0223 - Approved (05/03/1984)
Single storey building to form sports hall.

P82/V0182 - Approved (03/11/1982)
Removal of greenhouse and replacement with general purpose building of 
similar size.

3.2 Pre-application History
P17/V1511/PEJ - (14/08/2017)
Proposal to provide circa 40 dwellings comprising a combination of semi 
detached and detached three, four and five bed units. The main house will be 
converted into apartments. Access to the site will be as existing
and trees will be retained where possible. 

P16/V2869/PEM - (19/12/2016)
Scope for potential redevelopment 

Page 14

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P89/V0321
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P87/V0267
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P86/V0256
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P85/V0218
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P84/V0268
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P83/V0223
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P82/V0182
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/V1511/PEJ
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/V2869/PEM


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 31 October 2018

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 The proposed development is neither of a scale sufficient to warrant and EIA, 

5.0 MAIN ISSUES
5.1 The relevant planning considerations are considered to be the following:

 Green Belt policy
 Heritage issues
 Design and layout
 Landscape and trees
 Highway safety
 Affordable housing
 Housing mix
 Other matters, particularly biodiversity, drainage, noise, contamination, 

Community Infrastructure Levy and other financial contributions

5.2 Green Belt Policy
Policy CP13 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 sets out that the construction of new 
buildings within the green belt is considered inappropriate development unless 
it falls within one of the exceptions listed in the policy. One exception is for –“ 
limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously 
developed sites, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary 
buildings), which would not have a greater impact on the openness of the 
Green Belt and the purpose of including land within it than the existing 
development”.

5.3 It is normal convention to assess the impact of a replacement building on the 
openness of the green belt by comparing the volume of the existing and 
proposed building. In this case the comparison shows that the replacement 
buildings will increase the built volume on the site by approximately 30%. In 
light of this, officers have concluded that the proposed redevelopment will have 
a greater impact on openness, and that the proposal is therefore inappropriate 
development in the green belt.

5.4 Following on from this position, the next question is whether there are any “very 
special circumstances” that apply to the application and which can be said to 
outweigh the harm to the green belt. The applicants have argued there are 
several such very special circumstances, as follows:

 Heritage benefits
 Restoration and management of the original parkland setting of the site
 Vehicle trip generation and highway safety improvements to improve the 

safety and sustainability of the site

These will be examined below in relevant parts of the report.

Page 15



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 31 October 2018

5.5 Heritage Issues
The Manor House is considered to be a non-designated heritage asset. The 
original C19th buildings on the site comprise the main house and attached 
service wing, with a further attached stable block. Inappropriate modern 
extensions for school use have been attached to the service wing and he 
stable block. The latter has also been subject to considerable alteration. To the 
north of the Manor House are a number of C20th buildings of various sizes 
which are not sympathetic to its heritage status. The proposals will remove the 
much-altered stable block and all C20th buildings, add a new extension to the 
service wing, and build new houses in a “courtyard” to the north of the Manor 
House, and to replicate the line of staff housing in the south-east part of the 
site.

5.6 The scheme has been amended to address concerns from the conservation 
officer. The removal of the C20th additions to the Manor House, and the scale 
and design of the proposed extension, are considered to represent a material 
improvement to the historic integrity and setting of the Manor House. The 
rationale for the proposed courtyard of buildings to the north is to suggest 
estate dwellings, set broadly within the built area of the existing school 
buildings to be removed. Again, it is considered that the removal of the existing 
functional buildings and their replacement with housing is a considerable 
improvement to the setting of the Manor House. The new dwellings in the 
south-east part of the site are further from the Manor House and are seen as 
replacements for the existing staff housing.

5.7 Overall, the proposals are considered to make a significant improvement to the 
historic significance and to the setting of the non-designated heritage asset. 
They also provide an appropriate use for the asset, which is the best way of 
ensuring its upkeep for the future. Officers accept that these heritage benefits 
do form part of the “very special circumstances” argument in green belt terms.

5.8 Design and Layout
The design and layout of the scheme has been based on providing new 
buildings that are significantly more sensitive to the status of the non-
designated heritage asset, and to the rural location of the site. Officers consider 
that the detail of the design and the quality of the materials is of high quality. 
Both the conservation officer and the urban design officer have no objections to 
the amended layout, and overall officers consider the design and layout to be 
innovative and worthy of credit. The use of the layout to replicate a credible 
heritage relationship between the new houses and the Manor House is 
welcome, providing further support to the overall heritage benefits of the 
scheme, and further support to this element of the “very special circumstances” 
case.

5.9 Landscape and Trees
The application is accompanied by a landscape and visual impact assessment, 
and by an arboricultural report. The site was originally landscaped as an open 
parkland to provide a setting for the Manor House, with trees planted as 
individuals, small groups, or small wooded areas. The site does contain a 
considerable number of trees, which make a positive contribution to its overall 

Page 16



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 31 October 2018

character. However, the trees have not been subject to effective management 
for some decades which has meant a marked degradation of the original 
parkland concept. The applicants intend to restore the original parkland 
character of the site and to then to permanently manage the trees and 
landscape through a management company.

5.10 As part of the development, approximately 5% of the trees categorised as 
highest quality, and approximately 30% of the trees categorised as lower 
quality, will be removed. The forestry officer has assessed the proposals and 
has no overall objections. He does not support the objection of the Woodland 
Trust with regard to the ancient woodland to the north of the site. He does 
remain concerned over the likely future pressure to remove a mature oak tree 
which lies to the west of the proposed dwellings in the south-east corner of the 
site. It is not possible to amend the layout of this housing without causing an 
objection on conservation grounds. Consequently, officers have concluded that 
the proposal is acceptable overall.

5.11 The landscape officer has considered the submitted assessment. The main 
opportunities for public views of the site are from the nearby public footpaths. 
Given that the two main areas of development do broadly equate to the existing 
framework of built development on the site, the net visual impact on the 
landscape is considered to be acceptable, subject to conditions.

5.12 The application does provide a clear opportunity to restore the original parkland 
setting of the Manor House. As this setting can then be secured through the 
agreement of a suitable management plan, officers agree that this 
improvement does contribute to the case for “very special circumstances” in 
green belt terms.

5.13 Highway Safety
The applicants have submitted a transport assessment and plans showing 
improvements to the access from the site to the A420. The transport 
assessment compares the traffic generated by the historic school use to that 
which will be generated by the residential scheme. This assessment indicates a 
broadly similar level of traffic between the two types of use, and a net reduction 
in the peak hours trip generation for the proposal. The county highways officer 
states that, overall, he does not object to the assessment.

5.14 Currently the existing access onto the A420 has a forked layout, with an “in” 
arm and an “out” arm. There is a ghost right turn lane on the A420 for traffic 
turning right into the “in” arm, and road lining to discourage drivers turning into 
the “out” arm and to discourage drivers exiting the site to turn right onto the 
A420 across two lanes of traffic. The lining does not present a physical barrier 
to drivers wishing to turn right and so its effectiveness can be questioned.

5.15 The existing access lies just to the east of a short section of dual-carriageway 
that runs westwards as far as Tubney Wood. Just to the east of the site, in 
recognition of the dual carriageway, the speed limit changes from 50mph to 
70mph. The county highways officer does recognise the potential for danger 
with vehicles emerging from the site and turning right as vehicles on the A420 

Page 17



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 31 October 2018

are entering the dual-carriageway. As part of the proposal the applicants wish 
to improve the safety of the access through additional signage and the 
construction of a “splitter island” on the A420 to physically prevent drivers 
emerging from the site and turning right. The applicants also propose to create 
new footpath links to the two nearest bus stops on each side of the A420. The 
proposed splitter island is also designed to serve as a pedestrian refuge to 
allow pedestrians to cross the A420 to reach the bus stop on the south side. 
The county highways officer has examined the access and footway proposals 
and finds them acceptable in principle subject to further detailed work and a 
financial contribution towards improvements to A420 bus services. In view of 
the scale of the development he has requested a construction traffic 
management plan to controls such issues as parking of vehicles and wheel 
washing to prevent debris on the A420. In this case, as there is adequate 
space on site to accommodate construction vehicles, officers support the use 
of a CTMP, whilst recognising that it cannot prevent parking in the highway.

5.16 The evidence suggests that, in terms of trip generation, the proposals should 
be no worse than the trip generation of the historic school use. The proposed 
access works do offer a significant improvement in highway safety, and the 
prospect of some future residents being able to more easily use A420 bus 
services. In terms of green belt policy, officers agree that highway safety and 
sustainability improvements do contribute to the case for “very special 
circumstances”.

5.17 Affordable Housing
Given the relatively remote location of the site, the housing officer agrees that 
on-site affordable housing would not be appropriate. A financial contribution is 
therefore required to enable provision of affordable housing in more suitable 
locations. A viability assessment has been undertaken and the council has 
engaged an independent consultant to assist with this. Broad agreement has 
been reached on the nature of a suitable contribution, which can be secured 
through a Section 106 obligation.

5.18 Housing Mix
The proposed mix of housing compared to the SHMA market housing mix is:

1-bed 2-bed 3-bed 4+bed
Application 12% 25% 25% 38%
SHMA 5% 25% 45% 25%

This clearly shows a larger proportion of 1-bed units (provided through 
conversion of the Manor House) and a larger proportion of 4+ bed units as 
opposed to 3-bed units. It should be noted, however, that the SHMA sets 
parameters for greenfield sites, whereas the application site is a brownfield site 
with an existing use value, and has the further complication of finding a solution 
to re-use a heritage asset which imposes further constraints on the size of 
dwelling that can be realised. In view of these factors, officers consider the 
proposed mix to be reasonable.

Page 18



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 31 October 2018

5.19 Other Matters
Biodiversity
The submitted ecology surveys have been assessed by the countryside officer. 
He has no objections subject to conditions.

5.20 Drainage
The application includes a flood risk and drainage assessment. The site is 
served by a sewer. Thames Water notes that the development is in the vicinity 
of existing underground water utility infrastructure and has requested a 
condition to secure a methodology for piling if necessary. The council’s 
drainage engineer has no objections subject to conditions.
 

5.21 Noise
The environmental protection officer has assessed the application. Due to the 
proximity of the A420 he has requested a noise survey and appropriate noise 
mitigation measures if appropriate. The nearest house to the A420 will be 
approximately 80m from the road. This is approximately twice the distance of 
other recently approved housing schemes along the A420 which, through 
approved noise mitigation measures, have demonstrated a satisfactory noise 
environment for residents. In view of the distances involved for this 
development, officers consider it is highly likely that a satisfactory noise 
environment can be provided and, therefore, that this issue can be controlled 
through a suitable worded condition.

5.22 Contamination
A geophysical survey has been submitted with the application. Although this 
has identified no significant contamination on site that would preclude housing 
development, it has also shown a moderate risk of contamination from use of 
the site. The scientific officer therefore requests a staged condition to allow for 
investigation of this risk and for mitigation if necessary.

5.23 Community Infrastructure Levy
The development is liable for CIL. A charge of £148,664 was calculated at the 
time of submission of the application.

5.24 Other Financial Contributions
The following developer contributions are considered fair and proportionate and 
should be secured though section 106 agreements:

District Council Amount (£)
Off-site affordable housing To be finalised

Oxfordshire County Council Amount (£)
Improvements to bus services £49,743.76

6.0 CONCLUSION
6.1 The proposal raises key issues in terms of sustainability, green belt policy, and 

of finding an appropriate use for a non-designated heritage asset. Officers have 
carefully assessed these issues and consider that there are very special 
circumstances that outweigh the harm to green belt arising from the 

Page 19



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 31 October 2018

inappropriate nature of the development. Key amongst these are the heritage 
benefits that can be realised through a high quality and considered design and 
layout. The balance of trip generation figures suggests the proposed use is no 
worse in terms of sustainable transport and does include measures to assist 
with easier use of buses. Technical issues have been resolved or can be 
through the use of conditions. Overall therefore officers support the scheme.

The following planning policies have been taken into account:

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part1 policies;

CP01  -  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
CP03  -  Settlement Hierarchy
CP04  -  Meeting Our Housing Needs
CP07  -  Providing Supporting Infrastructure and Services
CP13  -  The Oxford Green Belt
CP22  -  Housing Mix
CP24  -  Affordable Housing
CP33  -  Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility
CP35  -  Promoting Public Transport, Cycling and Walking
CP37  -  Design and Local Distinctiveness
CP39  -  The Historic Environment
CP42  -  Flood Risk
CP44  -  Landscape
CP46  -  Conservation and Improvement of Biodiversity

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011 policies;
DC20  -  External Lighting
DC5  -  Access
DC6  -  Landscaping
DC7  -  Waste Collection and Recycling
DC9  -  The Impact of Development on Neighbouring Uses
GS6  -  Redevelopment of buildings outside settlements
GS7  -  Re-use of vernacular buildings outside settlements
HE9  -  Archaeology
L10  -  Safeguarding and Improving Public Rights of Way

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2 has been through examination 
but the Inspectors Report has not been received. Its policies therefore have 
limited weight.

Vale of White Horse Design Guide (March 2015)

National Planning Policy Framework, 2018

Planning Practise Guidance, 2014

Equality Act 2010

Page 20



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 31 October 2018

The application has been assessed against section 149 of the Equality Act. It is 
considered that no recognised group will suffer discrimination as a result of the 
proposal.

Human Rights Act, 1998
The application has been assessed against Articles 1 and 8. The impact on 
individuals has been balanced against the public interest and the officer 
recommendation is considered to be proportionate.

Author: Martin Deans
Email: martin.deans@whitehorsedc.gov.uk
Tel: 01235 422600

Page 21

mailto:martin.deans@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Page 22



P
age 23



Front Elevation

Finished floor Proposed Flat Block

 MANOR HOUSE - AS PROPOSED PROPOSED FLATS

Existing opening to
be blocked and

made good.

Proposed plinth
to match
existing

Finished floor Proposed Flat Block

Finished floor Proposed Flat Block

Steps to be removed
and proposed new level

access.

Buff Brick

Stone quoins

Slate roof

Tile Hung

Stone plinth

Buff Brick

Salvaged clock tower

Metal work

and railing

MANOR HOUSE - AS PROPOSEDPROPOSED FLATS

Rear Elevation

Existing door
to be blocked

and made good.

Existing structure
and window to be

removed.

Existing stairs
to be

removed.

Proposed
window.

Proposed opening and
existing window back in.

Existing window to
be removed.

Roof to be made good.

To be
blocked off.

Proposed window
in existing
opening.

Existing window
to be demolished
and replaced with

door.

Existing window to be
demolished / blocked

wall and made good as
a recessed brick panel.

Proposed plinth to
match existing.

Existing door to be moved
& steps to be removed.
Opening to be blocked

and made good.

Proposed plinth to
match existing.

Existing opening to be
blocked and made good.

Existing metal
grills to be
removed.

Proposed
external
steps.

Existing metal
grills to be
removed.

Proposed
external
steps.

Finished floor Proposed Flat Block

Finished floor Proposed Flat Block

Finished floor Proposed Flat Block

Proposed external steps.
Exact height & position of door to be

checked and surveyed.

Proposed
door.

Buff Brick

Stone quoins

Slate roof

Stone plinth

Stone detail

Stone

Metal work

and railing

Salvaged clock tower

Buff Brick

Buff Brick

Side Elevation

Dry

inlet

riser

PROPOSED FLATS

Finished floor Proposed Flat Block

Finished floor Proposed Flat Block

Finished floor Proposed Flat Block

Stone

Stone quoins

Slate roof

Stone plinth

Buff Brick

Buff Brick

Buff Brick

Metal work

and railing

Salvaged clock tower

Side Elevation

 MANOR HOUSE - AS PROPOSED

Proposed glazed
door in existing

opening.

Proposed
glazed external

door.

Ground Floor Plan
scale 1:100

0 2m 4m 6m

NOTES

CHK'D

This drawing is the copyright of Thrive Ltd ©. All rights reserved.

Ordnance Survey Data © Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.

Licence No. 100007359. DO NOT scale from this drawing.

Contractors, Sub Contractors and Suppliers are to check all relevant

dimensions and levels of the site and  building before commencing

any shop drawings or building work. Any discrepancies should be

recorded to the Architect.

Where applicable this drawing is to be read in conjunction with the

Consultants' drawings.

REVDRAWING NO.JOB NO.

SCALE DATE

PROJECT

DRAWING

AUTHOR

@ A1

CHK'DDATEREV AUTHORDESCRIPTION

A1

architects

Building 300, The Grange, Romsey Road, Michelmersh, SO51 0AE

t: 01794 367703       f: 01794 367276      www.thrivearchitects.co.uk

Romsey Office

CLIENT REF.

PLANNING

Former Parklands School

Besselsleigh

For: Millgate Developments Ltd 

Flat Block

Elevations

1:100 Dec 2017 MP -

MILL170509 FB.e B

-

A
Issued for Planning 19.01.18 MAP

B
Issued for Planning 01.06.18 NC

P
age 24



P
age 25



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 31 October 2018

APPLICATION NO. P18/V1483/FUL
SITE 3 Sandford Lane Kennington Oxford, OX1 5RW
PARISH KENNINGTON
PROPOSAL Demolition of existing bungalow, erection of 2 x 

1 bed and 3 x 2 bed apartments, associated off 
street parking, private amenity space, refuse 
and cycle storage.

WARD MEMBER(S) Edward Blagrove
Bob Johnston

APPLICANT Mr Terry Winter
OFFICER Alastair Scott

RECOMMENDATION
To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:

Standard
1. Commencement three years.
2. Approved plans.

Prior to Commencement:
3. Contamination risk assessment or details of built-in mitigation.
4. Materials as shown on application.

Prior to Occupation:
5. Access, parking, gradient and permeable surfaces in accordance 

with approved details.
6. Drainage details (surface and foul) in accordance with approved 

details.
7. New planting, hedge irrigation system and future 

height/maintenance of hedges and irrigation system in accordance 
with approved details.

8. Upper floor bathroom windows to be obscure glazed and top hung 
only.

9. Slab levels in accordance with approved details.
10.Boundary treatments.

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 The site is located at the southern edge of the village of Kennington and is 

currently occupied by a relatively modest bungalow that is set back from, and 
elevated above, road level. It lies towards the western end of Sandford Lane, 
very close to the junction with The Avenue. Adjacent dwellings are also 
bungalows similarly set back from, and above, road level. Opposite the site, on 
the south side of Sandford Lane, is the edge of the strategic housing site 
allocated in the Local Plan 2031 Part 1, the application for which was 
approved for delegation at committee on 22 August 2018.

1.2 In April 2018 planning permission was refused under delegated authority for 

Page 26

Agenda Item 8

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/V1483/FUL


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 31 October 2018

the redevelopment of the site to create a new building of 6 apartments with 
associated parking and other development (ref P18/V0334). The applicant 
lodged an appeal and the appeal was dismissed on 11 October 2018. The 
inspector agreed with the reasons for the council’s refusal of the application. 
This new proposal is for 5 apartments and has sought to address the refusal 
reasons. The main changes between the appeal scheme and this new 
proposal are:

 A significant reduction in the mass and bulk of the proposed apartment 
building

 A reduction in the amount by which the proposed building will be set 
down into the site

 Much more information regarding the proposed landscape treatment of 
the site frontage

 Greater separation of the side elevations of the proposed apartment 
building from the side boundaries of the site.

Officers have assessed this new proposal in light of the previous refusal and 
the inspector’s decision. A site location plan is below and a comparison of the 
appeal plans and the current plans, together with the appeal decision, are 
attached at Appendix 1.

Page 27



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 31 October 2018

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.1 Kennington Parish 

Council
Object on the following grounds:

 Insufficient changes from previous refused 
scheme

 Inadequate provision for refuse, cycling and 
parking

Neighbours 22 households have raised objections and 2 
households have supported the application. The 
grounds for objection can be summarised as follows:

 Loss of privacy
 Out of keeping with the rural character of the 

lane
 Flats are not sympathetic to the existing 

character which is comprised of family housing
 Will create highway danger to add to parked cars 

on the lane already and risks blocking access to 
the industrial estate to the east, as well as 
danger to pedestrians

 A construction traffic management plan is 
required

 Near to a dangerous bend
 The building is still too big for the site
 Parking is inadequate and will dominate the area
 Parking layout is impractical
 Noise and disturbance to neighbours
 Type of landscaping is inappropriate
 Will create drainage problems
 Refuse provision inadequate and impractical due 

to the slope
 Poor access for the less able-bodied
 Threat to neighbours’ foundations
 Creation of precedent
 The allocated housing site opposite means there 

is no need for this smaller accommodation

County Highways 
Officer

Following detailed discussions there is no objection 
subject to conditions

Drainage Officer No objection subject to conditions for surface water and 
foul water drainage

Contaminated 
Land Officer

No objection subject to risk assessment or measures to 
protect the property from potential landfill gas
 

Waste Officer The amended bin store capacity accords with the 
council’s requirements

Page 28



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 31 October 2018

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 P18/V0334/FUL - Refused (24/04/2018)

Proposed demolition of existing bungalow and outbuildings. Reduction in site 
level and construction of 4 x 1 bed and 2 x 2 bed apartments with associated 
private amenity space, parking, bin and cycle storage. (Additional Plans 
received 21 February 2018) (Amended plans and additional information as set 
out in accompanying agent email received 17 April 2018.)

P17/V0270/FUL - Withdrawn (04/04/2017)
Demolition of existing detached bungalow and construction of 6x 1 bedroom 
flats, in one property. Remove and relocate existing access to property by 
inserting new proposed access.

P17/V0032/HH - Withdrawn (04/04/2017)
Construction of a Rear Extension and conversion and extension of existing roof 
space to create additional habitable space.

3.2 Pre-application History
None

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 The proposal is of insufficient scale to require an EIA

5.0 MAIN ISSUES
5.1 Officers consider there are four main issues for committee to consider:

 The impact of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area
 The impact on neighbours
 Highway safety
 Other matters, particularly drainage, contaminated land, waste provision 

and the Community Infrastructure Levy

Officers will assess the current proposal against the appeal proposal in light of 
the inspector’s decision letter.

5.2 Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area
Objectors are concerned about the introduction of apartments into an area of 
family housing. Members are aware that it has been national policy for many 
years to encourage mixed communities of different housing types. The appeal 
inspector had no concerns on this issue and officers therefore consider that the 
principle of apartments is unobjectionable in planning terms.

5.3 The existing character surrounding the site is of modest sized dwellings with 
fairly open frontages. The section of Sandford Lane that forms the visual 
context for the site has dwellings set back from the road and at a higher level 
than the road as well. They are either single storey or one-and-a-half storeys. 
They all exhibit relatively modest scale and proportions. 

5.4 The appeal inspector criticised the excessive mass and bulk of the appeal 

Page 29

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/V0334/FUL
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/V0270/FUL
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/V0032/HH


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 31 October 2018

scheme and how its design failed to respect its surroundings (paras 6 and 7 of 
his decision). The council’s design guide states that the design of a new 
apartment building should respect it surroundings and avoid a bulky 
appearance (principle DG69)

5.5 The building now proposed has the form and mass of a one-and-a-half storey 
bungalow with a single storey, flat roofed rear extension. This is much more 
sympathetic to the scale of existing dwellings in the vicinity. It will be lowered 
into the site by approximately 500mm, materially less than the 1200mm of the 
appeal scheme, so addressing the previous engineered appearance. 
Moreover, the scale of the side walls has been considerably reduced and the 
roof has been re-orientated and simplified. The current proposal has a ridge 
height of approximately 8.5m and an eaves of approximately 4m. Although the 
ridge height will be approximately 1.5m higher than the bungalows to either 
side, variations of this size are not unusual in streets across the district and 
officers do not consider this justifies refusal of the application.

5.6 To address another criticism in the appeal decision both side walls of the 
proposed building are set away from the site boundaries by over 1m, sufficient 
for an acceptable outlook for future residents from principal ground floor 
windows. In the appeal scheme the inspector found the outlook from east side 
windows to be unacceptable, while that from west side windows was 
acceptable (para 13)

5.7 Objectors are concerned that the proposal is too large for the site and has 
insufficient garden space. However, the communal rear garden will be in 
excess of 25 m long and will have an area of over 350sq.m, which, at 45sq.m 
per bedroom, is three-times the standard for flats (15sq.m per bedroom). In 
light of this, officers do not consider that a refusal on this ground can be 
substantiated.

5.8 Proposed external materials include walls of red brick and cream render, grey 
Eternit roof tiles, and Eternit Cedral cladding. Given the variety of materials in 
the area, officers have no objections to these.

5.9 Car park and landscaping
The inspector also found fault with the visual impact of the car parking for the 
appeal scheme due to its extent and the limited potential for effective 
landscaping (para 9). The new scheme sees a reduction of one space in the 
amount of car parking, in recognition of there being one less apartment, and 
also sees the front wall of the new building set back into the site by 
approximately 4m. These factors allow more room for the car parking and 
landscaping.

5.10 More importantly, a much more detailed and innovative landscaping scheme 
for the site frontage is proposed, comprised of the planting of pre-grown, semi-
mature hornbeam hedges on the boundaries. The intention is the hedges will 
provide an instant and continuous screen 2.5m high and, as hornbeam is part 
of the beech family, for all of the year. Pre-grown hedges do require significant 

Page 30



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 31 October 2018

amounts of water to successfully take and the applicant has provided details of 
an integrated irrigation system for the hedges which officers consider should 
ensure they survive. Although objectors are concerned about the growth and 
spread of the hedges, officers are satisfied that the overall height, planting 
detail and maintenance of the hedges and irrigation system can be controlled 
by condition.

5.11 Overall, therefore, officers are satisfied that the much-improved quality of 
landscaping now proposed should provide acceptable and immediate visual 
screening of the car parking, from both the street and from neighbours. In 
addition, of the 20 dwellings that directly front Sandford Lane now, 25% already 
have relatively large frontages almost totally devoted to parking (these are no.5 
next door, no.21, no.23, no27, and no.35). In this regard this locality differs 
from others where a more uniform pattern of site frontage is found. Taking all 
these factors together, officers consider that neither the extent, nor the impact, 
of car parking in this scheme will cause planning harm to the prevailing 
character and appearance of the area.

5.12 Bin storage 
The covered bin store will be set back into the site, and will be enclosed in brick 
with a mono-pitch membrane roof. This is considered acceptable in terms of 
design. It has been demonstrated that the council’s required bins can be 
accommodated with space around them.

5.13 Impact on Neighbours
The neighbours potentially most affected are those to either side, no.1 and 
no.5. The main element of the proposed building has been sited to comply with 
the 40-degree rule in terms of each neighbour’s nearest rear facing principle 
window. In fact, the 40-degree rule only applies to full-height, two storey 
developments. Nevertheless, the compliance of the proposed one-and-a-half 
storey element with the 40-degree rule is important to note. The proposed flat-
roofed rear element will be approximately 3m high and will be set in from the 
main side walls, so that it will lie approximately 3m from the boundary with no.1 
and approximately 4m from the boundary with no.5.    

5.14 No.1 Sandford Lane has no side windows facing the site. Although no.3 
Sandford Lane does have a side-facing, ground floor window, it is understood 
this is a secondary window to the lounge which has a principal window to the 
rear. In view of this, and that the proposed building is approximately 3m from 
this window, officers do not consider that a refusal of the application due to the 
impact on this window is justified. Neighbours which might be directly 
overlooked to the rear are at least 35m from the proposed upper floor windows, 
which is well in excess of the minimum privacy standard of 21m.

5.15 Some neighbours have raised concerns regarding potential noise and 
disturbance from the development. However, officers have no evidence to 
suggest that the proposal will lead to a level of noise or disturbance that would 
be greater than one could reasonably expect in a residential area.
 

Page 31



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 31 October 2018

5.16 Highway Safety
There is considerable local objection on the grounds of highway safety. It is 
noted that, although the appeal inspector would have been aware of this local 
objection to the appeal scheme, he did not raise it as a concern. The county 
highways officer is also well aware of the local objections. They focus on the 
type and nature of vehicles using the road, the width and nature of the road 
and the presence of, and potential for, on-street parking and its possible 
interaction with pedestrians using the footpath. 

5.17 With regard to parking, members are aware that the county highways officer is 
constrained to observe national guidance regarding the amount of on-site 
parking that is appropriate for a development in light of the objectives of 
sustainable development. He is also constrained to assume sensible behaviour 
on the part of all types of user of the highway unless robust evidence (such as 
recorded accidents) indicates otherwise. Although the appropriate amount of 
on-site parking varies depending on location, important considerations are the 
availability of public transport to provide a realistic alternative to the car and 
local evidence about highway safety. A regular bus route into Oxford lies within 
walking distance of the site and the county highways officer has paid due 
regard to this fact. He has also paid regard to the evidence provided by local 
residents regarding the nature of vehicles using the lane and the issue of local 
parking, as well as to recorded accident data.

5.18 The county highways officer has balanced the availability and quality of local 
public transport provision against the other evidence. He is satisfied that the 
amount of proposed parking, one space per flat with two visitor spaces, is an 
acceptable compromise between them. On-site visitor parking has been 
required in acknowledgement of the concerns regarding the potential for on-
street parking near to the junction on a road used by a variety of traffic.

5.19 The gradient of the proposed car park and access, at no worse than 1:12, 
meets the recognised standards in terms of reasonable access for all groups. 
Sustainable surface water drainage for the car park and access will be 
provided as part of the construction to control storm flows as required by 
national guidance. These can be covered by planning condition.

5.20 Objectors have requested that a construction traffic management plan is 
required. Members are aware that CTMP’s cannot be used to prevent 
construction traffic from parking on the highway, which is the normal reason for 
a request. In addition, the county highways officer has not requested a CTMP 
in view of the relative small scale of the development. Consequently, officers 
do not recommend a CTMP.

5.21 Other Matters
Objectors have raised some issues that are not material planning 
considerations. These are the threat to neighbours’ foundations, whether the 
new units of accommodation are needed, and precedent. With regard to 
precedent, although there are other sites in the vicinity that may come forward 
in the future for a similar type of proposal, members are aware that each 
application has to be determined on its own merits.

Page 32



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 31 October 2018

5.22 Drainage
The council’s drainage engineer has considered the detail of the application. 
He has no objection but has requested conditions are attached to any 
permission relating to foul water and surface water drainage. 

5.23 Contaminated Land
The proposed development lies within the vicinity of a former landfill site and, 
consequently, there is the potential for soil gas migration. The council’s 
scientific officer has assessed the proposal and has no objections subject to a 
condition requiring either a gas risk assessment with recommended actions if 
necessary, or details of built-in mitigation measures to be incorporated in the 
building.

5.24 Waste
Following concerns raised by the council’s waste officer, the proposed bin store 
has been amended to be able to accommodate the recommended size of bins 
for the development with space around for access.

5.25 Community Infrastructure Levy
The development is CIL liable, A charge of £30,993.57 was calculated at the 
time of submission of the application. 

6.0 CONCLUSION
6.1 Officers have assessed the new proposal in light of the recent appeal dismissal. 

It is considered that the significant changes made to the proposal mean that it is 
now acceptable in terms of design, impact on neighbours and highway safety. It 
therefore accords with relevant policies of the development plan and with the 
NPPF.

The following planning policies have been taken into account:

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1 policies:

CP37  -  Design and Local Distinctiveness
CP42  -  Flood Risk

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011 saved policies:
DC5  -  Access
DC6  -  Landscaping
DC7  -  Waste Collection and Recycling
DC9  -  The Impact of Development on Neighbouring Uses

Draft Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2 policies:
(These policies have little weight at present due to the draft status of the plan)

DP16 – Access
DP23 – Impact on Amenity

Vale of White Horse Design Guide (March 2015)

Page 33



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 31 October 2018

National Planning Policy Framework, 2018

Planning Practise Guidance, 2014

Equality Act 2010
The application has been assessed against section 149 of the Equality Act. It is 
considered that no recognised group will suffer discrimination as a result of the 
proposal.

Human Rights Act, 1998
The application has been assessed against Articles 1 and 8. The impact on 
individuals has been balanced against the public interest and the officer 
recommendation is considered to be proportionate.

Author: Alastair Scott
Email: alastair.scott@ whitehorsedc.gov.uk
Tel: 01235 422600

Page 34



https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 18 September 2018 

by Richard S Jones  BA (Hons) BTP MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 11 October 2018 

Appeal Ref: APP/V3120/W/18/3203379 

3 Sandford Lane, Kennington, Oxford OX1 5RW 

 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990

against a refusal to grant planning permission.

 The appeal is made by Mr Terry Winter against the decision of Vale of White Horse

District Council.

 The application Ref P18/V0334/FUL, dated 8 February 2018, was refused by notice

dated 24 April 2018.

 The development proposed is the demolition of existing bungalow and outbuildings.

Reduction in site level and construction of 4 x 1 bed and 2 x 2 bed apartments with

associated private amenity space, parking, bin and cycle storage.

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed.

Preliminary Matters 

2. Prior to my site visit a Written Ministerial Statement (WMS) was issued on 18
September 2018, temporarily amending national planning policy as it applies in
Oxfordshire.  In light of this I offered the main parties opportunity to comment.

No responses were received and I do not consider the WMS to raise issues
relevant to the particular circumstances of this case.

Main Issues 

3. The main issues are:

 the effect of the proposed development on the character and appearance
of the area; and

 whether the proposed development would provide acceptable living

conditions for future occupants, with particular regard to outlook and
light.

Reasons 

Character and appearance 

4. The appeal site is presently occupied by a modest, detached bungalow, set

back from and elevated above road level, within a generously sized plot.  This
reflects the main characteristic form of development along this part of Sandford

Lane.  Indeed, the site is situated between bungalows which are similarly sized
and positioned.

Appendix 1

Page 35

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/V3120/W/18/3203379 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

5. I saw that there are a number of semi-detached dwellings further to the south 

east on Sandford Lane, however, due to intervening features, they are not seen 
from or in combination with the appeal site.  The largely consistent plot size, 

dwelling type and scale also materially differs from that described by the 
Inspector for the appeal1 at No 43 Sandford Lane, which is located some 
distance from the appeal site where there is a greater mix of development 

contributing to the character and appearance of the area. 

6. The proposed building would be approximately 500mm higher than the ridge 

height of the existing bungalow.  It is also proposed to reduce ground levels 
within the site so that the slab level of the building would be approximately 
1.2m lower than the ground floor of the existing bungalow.  The resulting scale 

would be similar to a two storey building.  Whilst the appellant describes the 
building as being partially subterranean, the scale and expanse of front 

elevation would be clearly visible from the street scene.  Here the modest scale 
of the flanking bungalows would serve to highlight the contrasting scale of the 
appeal proposal, which would appear excessive and incompatible with the plot.  

This would not be acceptably mitigated by the inclusion of two gables to the 
front elevation as opposed to a hipped roof design. 

7. Even though the proposal would not project forward of the existing bungalow, 
the overall footprint would be substantially larger, extending much further into 
the rear of the site.  Although not be significantly wider than the existing 

bungalow, the building would occupy nearly the full width of the plot and would 
appear noticeably tighter to its boundaries, due to the increased scale and the 

reduction in levels. 

8. I take no issue with a contemporary design approach to the site and I note that 
the Council has approved other contemporary schemes in the area recently.  

However, in combination with the scale and massing proposed, as well as its 
position close to the junction into Sandford Lane, the proposal would result in a 

building which would be unduly dominant in the street scene. 

9. The substantial set-back of the dwellings along this part of Sandford Lane 
provides opportunity to accommodate vehicle access and parking, as well as 

large front gardens with tree and shrub planting.  Such spaces create a softer 
setting to the dwellings which relate well to the wooded area on the opposite 

side of the street.  In contrast, the appeal site frontage would be almost 
entirely taken up by a hard surface area providing parking and manoeuvring for 
eight vehicles, bordered by retaining walls.  This would allow limited scope to 

mitigate the scale and massing of the building or to soften its setting to reflect 
its prevailing suburban and verdant context.  This reinforces the appearance of 

a cramped, overdevelopment of the site.  The reduction in the depth of the 
building by at the rear of the site by 1.2m would not alleviate this harm. 

10. I appreciate the appellant’s pledge to plant three trees for everyone lost at the 
site, but any planning permission granted would run with the land.  In any 
case, I share the Council’s concerns that the trees shown at the site frontage 

are very unlikely to be successful.  Indeed, it appears that two of the four trees 
shown would be as much inside the site as outside of it. 

11. I acknowledge that the area to the south of the site forms a strategic housing 
site and if realised would likely alter the character and appearance of the wider 

                                       
1 Appeal Ref: APP/V3120/W/15/3003282 

Page 36

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/V3120/W/18/3203379 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

area.  However, I have limited details of how and when that might transpire 

and how it might relate to the appeal site.  It does not therefore follow that the 
appeal site should be considered at this time for a wide variety of new 

development in terms of size, scale and design.  Nor does it justify a 
development which would result in the significant harm I have described. 

12. I therefore conclude on this main issue that the proposal would result in 

unacceptable harm to the character and appearance of the site and the 
localised area, contrary to Policies 37 and 44 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 

Strategic Sites and Policies, Policy DC6 of the Local Plan 2011 (LP), Design 
Guide March 2015 and to section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(the Framework).  These state, amongst other things, that all new 

development will be required to be of high quality design that responds 
positively to the site and its surroundings. 

Living conditions  

13. The bedroom for flats 2 and 4 at ground floor level would directly face the side 
boundary retaining wall and fence at a distance of less than 1m.  This would 

amount to an extremely poor and oppressive outlook from the sole window 
serving these rooms.  The proximity and relative height of the boundary would 

also limit the natural light reaching those windows and this would not be 
acceptably improved by painting the boundary a light colour.  Whist the 
appellant considers these to be secondary rooms, they would nevertheless be 

the only bedroom in each unit and can reasonably be regarded as a habitable 
room.   

14. The separation to the boundary from the bedroom windows of flats 1 and 3 
would be materially greater and would not, on balance, justify withholding 
planning permission on its own accord. 

15. Nevertheless, for the reasons explained, the proposal would provide 
unacceptable living conditions for future occupants of flats 2 and 4 and on this 

basis would be contrary to LP Policy DC9 and Section 12 of the Framework.  
These state, amongst other matters, that decisions should ensure that 
developments create places with a high standard of amenity for existing and 

future users. 

Conclusion 

16. I acknowledge that the proposal would increase housing supply in a sustainable 
location but the benefits arising in this case would be outweighed by the harm I 
have found to the character and appearance of the area and to the living 

conditions of future occupants.  Accordingly, the proposal would not, in overall 
terms, meet the social and environmental objectives of sustainable 

development and therefore the presumption in favour of the same contained 
within the Framework does not apply.  For these reasons, and taking all other 

matters into consideration, I conclude that the appeal should be dismissed. 

 

Richard S Jones 

INSPECTOR 

Page 37

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


WEST ELEVATIONSOUTH ELEVATION

WEST ELEVATION NORTH ELEVATION

Pivot 45 degree patio doors

0 1m 2m 5m 10m

SCALE (1:100)

3m 4m

Client Drg. No.

Date

Scales

1:100 @ A2

Dwg Title

Drawn/ Checked

AL/ AB

akarchitects

oxford

01865.453.889RIBA

Chartered Practice

16/04/18

P17/015/106 A
Demolition of Existing Dwelling to provide

4 x 1 Bed  and 2 x 2 Bed Apartments

AMENDED PLANS
PROPOSAL ELEVATIONS

Terry Winter

3, Sandford Lane

Kennington

OX1 5RW

Aluminium seam roof

Dark grey UPVC facia, soffit, rainwater goods

Light grey horizontal cladding to upper floor

Cotswald stone cladding to ground floor

Dark grey UPVC windows and bay window

Dark grey capping stone to plinth

Aluminium seam roof

Dark grey UPVC facia, soffit, rainwater goods

Light grey horizontal cladding to upper floor

Cotswald stone cladding to ground floor

Dark grey UPVC windows and bay window

Dark grey capping stone to plinth

Bi-fold patio doors

Juilette balcony

Sliding patio doors

P
age 38



Proposed Ground Floor Plan
(1:100)

Proposed First Floor Plan
(1:100)

3

4

5

6

N
o
.5

8
8

m
2

10

11

12

131415

N
o
.6

8
8

m
2

Flat Roof

Parapet

Velux 

Velux Velux 

N
o
.1

5
3
m

2

No.3
64m2

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

Entrance
(No's 3A - F)

No.4
64m2

N
o
.2

5
3
m

2

0 1m 2m 5m 10m

SCALE (1:100)

3m 4m

Juliette balcony

Existing bungalow footprint

4848

9

8

7

Velux 

Client Drg. No.

Date

Scales

1:100 @ A2

Dwg Title

Drawn/ Checked

AL/ AB

akarchitects

oxford

01865.453.889RIBA

Chartered Practice

16/04/18

P17/015/104 A
Demolition of Existing Dwelling to provide

4 x 1 Bed  and 2 x 2 Bed Apartments

AMENDED PLANS

PROPOSAL PLANS

Terry Winter

3, Sandford Lane

Kennington

OX1 5RW

P
age 39



Covered 
cycle store

New IC Flat Roof

Private garden

Private garden

1.
8m

 h
ig

h 
tim

be
r f

en
ce

1.8m
 high tim

ber fence

S
 A

 N
 D

 F
 O

 R
 D

    L A
 N

 E

63.4m

191

1

7

5

1

2

3

4

Existing bungalow 
footprint

Accomodation Schedule

Ground Floor:
2 x 1 Bed 53m2
2 x 1 Bed 64m2

First Floor:
2 x 2 Bed 80m2

Site Area 1,085m2

6

7

8

R
am

p 
U
p

Bin store

2m
 h

ig
h 

tim
be

r f
en

ce
 to

 b
ou

nd
ar

y

2m
 h

ig
h 

tim
be

r f
en

ce
 to

 b
ou

nd
ar

y

2m
 high tim

ber fence to boundary

1m
 h

ig
h 

tim
be

r f
en

ce
 to

 b
ou

nd
ar

y 
an

d 
si
de

 g
at

e

Shared private 
amenity space 

VS

V
S

2000

Existing dropped kerb

New foul to connect to 
existing foul drainage

Permeable paviors to parking  
court and footpath with ramped 
access and level threshold

New IC

New IC

New IC

Soakaway

0 2m 4m 10m 20m

SCALE (1:200)

6m 8m

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

(1:200)

1m
 high tim

ber fence to boundary

K
 E

 N
 N

 I N
 G

 T
 O

 N
   R

 O
 A

  D

A

A

R
am

p 
U
p

R
etaining w

all (planters over)

4
0
 d

e
g
' (1

s
t flo

o
r w

in
d
o
w

) 

R
etaining w

all

R
et

ai
ni

ng
 w

al
l

R
et

ai
ni

ng
 w

al
l

(N
o's 3A - F)

Entrance

Existing outbuildings 
demolished

Existing outbuilding 
demolished

5

1m
 h

ig
h 

tim
be

r f
en

ce
 to

 b
ou

nd
ar

y 
an

d 
si
de

 g
at

e

4
0
 d

e
g
' (G

n
d
 flo

o
r w

in
d
o
w

) 

4
0
 d

e
g
' (G

n
d
 flo

o
r w

in
d
o
w

) 

Hornbeam treess to fence boundary
(require 300mm root stem)

Hornbeam treess to fence boundary
(require 300mm root stem)

77
0L

 B
in

77
0L

 B
in

4
0
 d

e
g
' (G

ro
u
n
d
 flo

o
r p

a
tio

 d
o
o
r) 

40 deg' (Ground floor window) 

B

B

Client Drg. No.

Date

Scales Dwg Title

Drawn/ Checked

AL/ AB

akarchitects

oxford

01865.453.889RIBA

Chartered Practice
16/04/18

P17/015/105 A
Terry Winter

3, Sandford Lane

Kennington

OX1 5RW

Demolition of Existing Dwelling to provide
4 x 1 Bed  and 2 x 2 Bed Apartments

AMENDED PLANS 

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

1:200 @ A2

P
age 40



Client Drg. No.

Date

Scales

1:100 @ A2

Dwg Title

Drawn/ Checked

AL/ AB

akarchitects

oxford

01865.453.889RIBA

Chartered Practice

24/05/18

P18/005/108 D
Demolition of Existing Dwelling to provide

2 x 1 Bed  and 3 x 2 Bed Apartments

PROPOSED NORTH SOUTH ELEVATIONS

Terry Winter

3, Sandford Lane

Kennington

OX1 5RW

PROPOSED NORTH ELEVATION

No. 5

No. 1

No. 3 REAR

PROPOSED SANDFORD ROAD STREET  ELEVATION / SECTION BB (SOUTH)

No. 5

No. 1

Sandford Lane road profile

99.27
99.45

100.00FFL

98.72
No. 3 FRONT

Grey Marley Eternit roof tiles to main roof

Grey UPVC sash windows and doors

Grey UPVC Cladding to dormers

Recon' stone window cill and header

Grey facia, soffit and rainwater goods

Grey Marely Eternit Cedral cladding to dormers

Red face brick

Clay roof tile to bay windows

Recon' stone window surround to bay

Grey Marley Eternit roof tiles to main roof

Grey UPVC sash windows and doors

Recon' stone window cill and header

Grey facia, soffit and rainwater goods

Grey Marely Eternit Cedral cladding to dormers

Red face brick and Oachre render to rear GF 

Grey UPVC cladding to dormer

P
age 41



Client Drg. No.

Date

Scales

1:100 @ A2

Dwg Title

Drawn/ Checked

AL/ AB

akarchitects

oxford

01865.453.889RIBA

Chartered Practice

24/05/18

P18/005/106  D
Demolition of Existing Dwelling to provide

2 x 1 Bed  and 3 x 2 Bed Apartments

PROPOSED EAST AND WEST 
ELEVATIONS

Terry Winter

3, Sandford Lane

Kennington

OX1 5RW

Parking Court
Existing site profile

Boundary fence profile

Boundary fence profile

PROPOSED WEST  ELEVATION

No. 3

Flat roofCoping stone to Parapet

Parking CourtExisting site profile

Boundary fence profile

Boundary fence profile

PROPOSED EAST  ELEVATION

No. 3

Flat roof
Parapet

Grey Marley Eternit roof tiles to main roof

Grey UPVC sash windows and doors

Recon' stone window cill and header

Grey facia, soffit and rainwater goods

Grey Marely Eternit Cedral cladding to dormers

Red face brick

Clay roof tile to bay windows

Recon' stone window surround to bay

Grey Marley Eternit roof tiles to main roof

Grey UPVC sash windows and doors

Recon' stone window cill and header

Grey facia, soffit and rainwater goods

Grey Marely Eternit Cedral cladding to dormers

Red face brick

Clay roof tile to bay windows

Recon' stone window surround to bay

Cycle Store

P
age 42



0 1m 2m 5m 10m

SCALE (1:100)

3m 4m

Proposed First Floor Plan
(1:100)

Existing bungalow footprint

Proposed Ground Floor Plan
(1:100)

Proposed Roof Plan
(1:100)

57M2 1 Bed

6

57M2 1 Bed

Flat roof

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

5

4

3

2

43

Flat roof

65M2 2 Bed

76M2 2 Bed

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

65M2 2 Bed

1 2

Client Drg. No.

Date

Scales

1:100 @ A2

Dwg Title

Drawn/ Checked

AL/ AB

akarchitects

oxford

01865.453.889RIBA

Chartered Practice

34/05/18

P18/005/104 F
Demolition of Existing Dwelling to provide

2 x 1 Bed  and 3 x 2 Bed Apartments

PROPOSAL PLANS

Terry Winter

3, Sandford Lane

Kennington

OX1 5RW

P
age 43

sav_martinp
Area Measurement
Area:
64.23 sq m

sav_martinp_1
Area Measurement
Area:
64.45 sq m

sav_martinp_2
Area Measurement
Area:
11.22 sq m

sav_martinp_3
Area Measurement
Area:
74.99 sq m

sav_martinp_4
Area Measurement
Area:
55.90 sq m

sav_martinp_5
Area Measurement
Area:
55.45 sq m

sav_martinp_6
Area Measurement
Area:
8.88 sq m



Covered cycle store
Sheffield stands
(8 bikes)

S
 A

 N
 D

 F
 O

 R
 D

    L A
 N

 E

63.4m

191

1

7

5

Existing bungalow 
footprint

Accomodation Schedule

Ground Floor:
3 x 2 Bed (65m2, 65m2, 76m2)

First Floor:
2 x 1 Bed  (57m2)

Site Area 1,085m2

2m
 h

ig
h 

tim
be

r f
en

ce
 to

 b
ou

nd
ar

y

2m
 h

ig
h 

tim
be

r f
en

ce
 to

 b
ou

nd
ar

y

2m
 high tim

ber fence to boundary

Shared private 
amenity space 

Existing dropped kerb

New foul to connect to 
existing foul drainage

Permeable paviors 
to parking court

New IC

Soakaway

0 2m 4m 10m 20m

SCALE (1:200)

6m 8m

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

(1:200)

0.9m
 high brick boundary w

all to front

K
 E

 N
 N

 I N
 G

 T
 O

 N
   R

 O
 A

  D

4
0
 d

e
g
' (1

s
t flo

o
r w

in
d
o
w

) 

Existing outbuildings 
demolished

0.
9m

 h
ig

h 
tim

be
r f

en
ce

 to
 b

ou
nd

ar
y 

an
d 

si
de

 g
at

e

Hornbeam treess to fence boundary
4
0
 d

e
g
' (G

ro
u
n
d
 flo

o
r p

a
tio

 d
o
o
r) 

2400

40 deg' (Ground floor window) 

Widen access and 
dropped kerb by 0.93m

New IC

Private garden

,

R
etaining w

all

Entrance

Existing outbuilding 
demolished

3

Flat roof

923

A
C
C
O

43000

VS

VS

43000

V
eh

ic
ul

ar

P
ed

es
tri

an

A

A

B

B

0.
9m

 h
ig

h 
tim

be
r f

en
ce

 to
 b

ou
nd

ar
y 

an
d 

si
de

 g
at

e

Hornbeam treess to fence boundary
(require 300mm root stem)

Parking court 

slope gradient 1:12 

2

4

3

1

11
00

L 
B
in

11
00

L 
B
in

V2

5

V1

Bin Store

65
00

45
00

2550

0.9m high low wall to gate

14
0L

 
B
in

Client Drg. No.

Date

Scales Dwg Title

Drawn/ Checked

TW
13/09/18

TW001 A
Terry Winter

3, Sandford Lane

Kennington

OX1 5RW

Demolition of Existing Dwelling to provide

2 x 1 Bed  and 3 x 2 Bed Apartments

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

(AMENDED, 2ND REVISION)

1:200 @ A1

P
age 44



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 October 2018

RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that planning permission is granted, subject to the 
following conditions:

Standard
1. Time limit - full application.
2. Approved plans list.

Prior to occupation
3. Boundary details provided in accordance with plans.

Compliance
4. Materials in accordance with plans.
5. Permitted development restriction – roof alterations.

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 This application is referred to planning committee following a call-in request

from one of the local members, Councillor Elaine Ware. Councillor Ware has 
asked that the application be referred to committee in view of the many 
concerns raised and the history of the site.

1.2 The site is situated in the settlement of Longcot. Longcot is a smaller village 
within the Western Vale sub-area. A site location plan is provided overleaf:

APPLICATION NO. P18/V1820/FUL
SITE Land south of Red Gables, Longcot
PARISH Longcot
PROPOSAL Part retrospective: Proposed

replacement dwelling
WARD MEMBER(S) Simon Howell and Elaine Ware
APPLICANT Mr Martin Leach

Page 45

Agenda Item 9



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 October 2018

1.3 The application follows recent planning approval (P18/V0573/FUL) for the 
partial demolition of a former stables and extension and conversion into a 
dwelling. This part retrospective application has been submitted following the 
unlawful demolition of the entire property.

1.4 The site now consists of a cleared site that is surrounded by residential 
dwellings. The former stables have been replaced with the foundations of a 
new dwelling. The site is situated to the north-west of a grade II listed building.

1.5 A small barn is located to the south-eastern area of the site. Vehicle access is 
situated to the north-west via Fernham Road.

1.6 Planning permission is sought for a part retrospective dwelling which will 
resemble the previously approved application (P18/V0573/FUL) for the partial 
demolition of the former stables, extension and conversion to a dwelling. The 
development will increase the width of the original building by 7.66 metres, the 
depth will also increase by 6.17 metres to incorporate a dual pitched roof. The 
height of the dwelling will also be 1.15 metres higher than the original building. 
It is important to note that the building will be the exact size as the previously 
permitted dwelling approved under application P18/V0573/FUL.

1.7 The development is proposed to be constructed of materials to match the 
original dwelling. Vehicle access will remain the same with on-site car parking 
for three vehicles. Extracts from the application plans are attached at 
Appendix 1.

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.1 A summary of the responses received is set out overleaf. Comments made can

be viewed in full online at www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk.

Page 46

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/


Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 October 2018

Longcot Parish Council Objection. This plot has been put to
planning many times over many 
years. The Parish Council has 
always worked hard to make sure 
that the outcome of all planning 
decisions were the best outcome for 
ensuring the plot was developed in a 
manor in keeping with being one of 
Longcot’s old heritage sites, in the 
curtilage of more than one Grade II 
listed building and also to comply 
with the requirement of houses 
required in a designated small 
village.

The site is in a unique situation as it 
sits within a zone that is prone to 
flooding, caused by heavy rain on 
Longcot clay. The site has had water 
moving through it on 3 occasions 
within 36 years according to the flood 
group’s knowledge. Of course it was 
not a dwelling then so the houses 
around it on the downhill side were 
all flooded by the water passing
over it and across it, so any building 
that takes away area of absorption 
will increase the risk of flooding to 
neighbouring properties quite 
dramatically. Longcot was a village 
with many ponds and trees. This site 
originally had 2 ponds on it, which is 
why water will find its way to the site 
and as it now has no ponds it needs 
to plan for such. The Parish Council 
does have a flood policy in place and 
requires detailed drainage plans, this 
is an area where this is of great 
importance, and no such plans have 
been submitted.

This proposal is much larger than the 
previously approved application 
which the Parish Council cannot 
accept as it is over development of 
this plot. The site had planning 
permission for a partial demolition of 
the old heritage building. It had
to be halted because the developer 
did a total demolition and so the

Page 47



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 October 2018

process appears to be that a new 
planning application had to be
submitted. The Parish Council 
strongly feels that a legal precedent 
could be set if any future developer 
did not like the terms of permitted 
planning consent, especially 
involving heritage buildings, by 
ignoring totally the conditions of 
planning permission to achieve a 
bigger footprint with no heritage 
details required etc. Hence the 
Parish Council strongly feels that the 
original planning footprint should be 
adhered to.

The Design and Access statement of 
this application suggests 'demolition'
- i.e. to dismantle the existing stable 
structure, as the stable has been 
totally demolished this application 
should be facing the position it is in 
now and how it is going to ensure 
that the building process will deliver 
what it said it was going to. The 
Design and Access statement
also states that the Vales Legal 
Department confirmed that Barn A 
was not curtilage listed in February 
2018, however, Longcot Parish 
Council would like to suggest that as 
we are a designated small village 
and take our old buildings very 
seriously we very much care what 
the look of any building is when close 
to our village’s grade 2 listed 
buildings.

Oxfordshire County Council – 
Highways liaison officer

No objection.

Conservation No objection.

Drainage No objection. The applicant has 
successfully demonstrated that 
infiltration is feasible via a hydraulic 
calculation sheet. This infiltration 
device has been designed to 
accommodate a 1 in 30 year storm +

Page 48



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 October 2018

40% CC which accords with 
legislation.

Waste management officer No objection.

Archaeologist No objection.

Contaminated land No objection.

Neighbours – 3 letters of objection 
received. The grounds for objection 
concern can be summarised as:

- drainage implications.
- discrepancies in supporting 
documents.
- no party wall agreement has 
been sought.
- impact on neighbouring 
amenity.
- impact on setting of grade II 
listed building.
- flooding implications.

3.0

-

-

-

-

-

-

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

P18/V0573/FUL - Approved (23/05/2018)
The partial demolition of a former stables (Barn A) and proposed extension and 
conversion into a dwelling.

P16/V0507/FUL - Approved (03/05/2016)
Proposal to extend and convert the former stables into a four bedroom 
dwelling.

P16/V0475/LB - Approved (03/05/2016)
Proposal to extend and convert the former stables into a four bedroom 
dwelling.

P14/V1816/LB - Approved (13/11/2014)
Conversion of existing stables into a four bedroom dwelling and conversion of 
existing animal shelter into a garage/workshop. (Re-submission of withdrawn 
application P14/V1116/FUL)(as amended by drawings 1151-12, 1151-S- 
01RevA and 1551-S-02RevA and 1551-S-03Rev A).

P14/V1745/FUL - Approved (13/11/2014)
Conversion of existing stables into a four bedroom dwelling and conversion of 
existing animal shelter into a garage/workshop. (Re-submission of withdrawn 
application P14/V1116/FUL)(as amended by drawings 1151-12, 1151-S- 
01RevA and 1551-S-02RevA and 1151-S-03RevA).

P06/V1476 - Approved (11/01/2007)
Demolition of redundant agricultural building. Erection of a single storey 
detached dwelling.

Page 49



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 October 2018

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 The application has been considered under the provisions of the Town and

Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. The 
scale of the proposal is below relevant thresholds and the locality has no 
recognised specific environmental sensitivity. Therefore, an Environmental 
Statement is not required.

5.0 MAIN ISSUES
5.1 Principle of development

The settlement hierarchy set out in Core Policy 3 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 
identifies Longcot as a smaller village within the Western Vale sub-area. 
Smaller villages have a low level of services and facilities. Development should 
be modest and proportionate in scale and primarily be to meet local needs. 
Core Policy 4 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 states that there is a presumption 
in favour of sustainable development within the existing built area of market 
towns, local service centres and larger villages. Limited infill development may 
be appropriate within the existing built areas of smaller villages where they are 
in keeping with local character and are proportionate in scale.

5.2 The NPPF is clear that local planning authorities should look to significantly 
boost the supply of housing in line with the principles of sustainable 
development. Core Policy 4 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 sets out the  
Council’s approach to delivering new homes and retaining the housing stock. 
New homes will be located in accordance with the settlement hierarchy outlined 
in Core Policy CP3.

5.3 The development is located in the settlement of Longcot within an area that 
benefits from a range of services. It would provide an additional dwelling unit in 
the Vale, meeting the Council’s requirement for the delivery of new homes.

5.4 In view of the above the principle of development is therefore acceptable 
providing it accords with other relevant development plan policies.

5.5 Design and impact on the character an appearance of the area 
The NPPF is clear that good design is indivisible from good planning, it 
attaches great importance to the design of the built environment. Good design 
is a key aspect of sustainable development and should contribute positively to 
making places better for people. It emphasises the importance to plan 
positively for the achievement of high quality and inclusive design for all 
development, including individual buildings.

5.6 The NPPF also adds that the visual appearance and the architecture of 
individual buildings are very important factors, securing high quality and 
inclusive design goes beyond aesthetic considerations. Great weight should be 
given to outstanding or innovative designs which raise the standard of design 
more generally in the area. Permission should be refused for development of 
poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the 
character and quality of an area and the way it functions.

Page 50



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 October 2018

5.7 Core Policy 37 of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1 states that 
new development must demonstrate high quality and sustainable design that 
relates not only to the appearance of a development, but the way in which it 
functions.

5.8 Concerns have been raised stating that the barn is curtilage listed and that the 
development would create a harmful impact on an important heritage asset. 
Officers have obtained legal advice on this. The legal view is that the original 
building was not curtilage listed as the site was split and sold off in 1965 before 
the listing of Ivy Farmhouse in 1983 (listing 1048782). Officers therefore 
considered the building was a non-designated heritage asset. Policy DP36 of 
the Vale of White Horse Draft Local Plan 2031, Part 2 states that proposals for 
new development that may affect heritage assets must demonstrate that they 
conserve and enhance the special interest or significance of the heritage asset 
and its setting.

5.9 It is disappointing that a non-heritage asset has been demolished.
Nevertheless, the design and overall appearance of the dwelling will fit with the 
general scale and features of the surrounding area. The building is designed to 
replicate the previous approval (P18/V0573/FUL) and will be built to the same 
size and of the same materials as the previous planning consent. Furthermore, 
the overall appearance is proposed to conserve the setting of the adjacent 
grade II listed buildings to the south-east. There will be adequate amenity 
space, parking and privacy for the occupants.

5.10 In view of the above the design and appearance of the proposed development 
is in compliance with the advice contained within the NPPF, and CP37 and 
CP39 of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1, and Policy DP36 of 
the Draft Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2.

5.11 Residential amenity
Core Policy 37 of the Vale Local Plan 2031 Part 1, DC9 of the Vale of White 
Horse Local Plan 2011 Saved Policies, and DP23 of the Draft Vale of White 
Horse Local Plan 2031, Part 2 are of importance with regard to the potential 
impact upon neighbouring amenity. Policy DC9 states that development will not 
be permitted if it would unacceptably harm the amenities of neighbouring 
properties and the wider environment.

5.12 The impact upon neighbouring amenity will be minimal as the dwelling will be 
sufficiently distanced away from neighbouring dwellings. Furthermore, the 
scale of development is not considered to create a harmful impact towards 
neighbouring occupants. It is therefore considered that the criteria contained 
within Core Policy 37 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 and DC9 of the Local Plan 
2011 Saved Policies, and DP23 of the Draft Vale of White Horse Local Plan 
2031 Part 2 will be adhered to.

5.13 Drainage
The site is not situated in flood zones 2 or 3. Therefore fluvial flooding is 
unlikely to occur at the site. The drainage officer has raised no objection,

Page 51



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 October 2018

confirming that the applicant has successfully demonstrated that infiltration is 
feasible via a hydraulic calculation sheet. This infiltration device has been 
designed to accommodate a 1 in 30 year storm + 40% CC which accords with 
legislation.

5.14 It is therefore considered that the development would not affect the quality of 
water resources or create flooding at the development site or elsewhere. The 
development therefore complies with Policy DC12 of the Vale of White Horse 
Local Plan Saved Policies 2011, and Policy CP42 of the Vale of White Horse 
Local Plan 2031, Part 1.

5.15 Other matters
Neighbouring objectors are concerned that there are discrepancies in the 
supporting information. Officers are satisfied that sufficient information has 
been submitted in this instance. Other objections have raised concerns with the 
impact of a stone party wall. This is not a material planning consideration, if a 
party wall is damaged during construction this would fall under the Party Wall 
Act which is a matter outside of planning legislation.

5.16 To preserve neighbouring amenity and the character and appearance of the 
surrounding area a condition is recommended to remove permitted 
development rights for additions or alterations of the roof of the dwelling. This 
will prevent an overdeveloped appearance and allow officers to carefully 
monitor any potential impact on the setting of the nearby grade II listed 
buildings.

5.17 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
Policy CP7 of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031, Part 1 states that the 
Council will work with infrastructure providers and stakeholders to identify 
requirements for infrastructure provision and services for new development and 
will seek to co-ordinate infrastructure delivery. The Council has implemented its 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) as from 1st November 2017. Planning 
applications which are decided after 1st November 2017 may be liable to pay 
the levy.

5.18 The proposed new build in terms of the gross internal floor space area (GIA) as 
defined by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) is 217m2. Under 
the Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule adopted by Vale of 
White Horse Council and the government Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations, new dwellings and residential development of 100m2 or more will 
be liable to pay the Community Infrastructure Levy. In this instance the 
application is CIL liable with a total CIL liability cost of £28,498.32.

5.19 Sustainable development
When considering development proposals, the Council is required to take a 
positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development contained in the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 52



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 October 2018

5.20 The National Planning Policy Framework places a strong emphasis on 
sustainable development. All planning applications must result in sustainable 
development with consideration being given to economic, social and 
environmental sustainability aspects of the proposal. The development will 
have a minimal impact upon the local services which operate in Longcot. The 
environmental considerations have been assessed in terms of amenity, and 
impact on the character and appearance of the area and for the reasons given 
above are considered acceptable. Social considerations overlap those of 
environmental in terms of amenity. As these have been found acceptable the 
development is considered to constitute sustainable development.

6.0 CONCLUSION
6.1 The application has been assessed on its merits, against the requirements of

the adopted Local Plan 2031 Part 1, saved policies of the adopted Local Plan 
2011 and the National Planning Policy Framework. Regard has been given to 
the draft Local Plan 2031, Part 2 but as this is yet to be adopted, it’s policies 
hold limited weight.

6.2 The application will provide an economic and social role via the additional 
residents who will use local services, and business.

6.3 In terms of the environmental role, limited harm has been identified with respect 
to the impact on the surrounding character and appearance of the area and the 
surrounding listed buildings.

6.4 There are no technical objections to the proposal, subject to appropriate 
conditions.

6.5 Overall in the planning balance, the benefits of the scheme are considered to 
outweigh the limited harm that has been identified. As such, the application is 
recommended for approval.

This decision has been considered using the relevant policies related to the 
proposal. These are listed below.

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 
the determination of any planning application must be made in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The 
statutory Development Plan comprises;

- The Local Plan 2031 Part 1
- The Local Plan 2011 Saved Policies
- The Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2031
- Neighbourhood Plans for; Drayton, Coxwell, Blewbury, Faringdon, 
           Radley, Great Coxwell, and Longworth.

Other material considerations include government guidance, in particular:
- The National Planning Policy Framework (2018) (NPPF)
- The National Planning Policy Guidance (March 2014) (NPPG)

Page 53



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 October 2018

- Vale of White Horse Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document 
            (SPD) (March 2015)
- Vale of White Horse Updated Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) 
           (December 2016)
- Draft Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2: Detailed Policies and 
            Additional Sites
- Building for Life 12

Other Relevant Legislation
- Human Rights Act 1998
- The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into  
           account in the processing of the application and the preparation of this  
           report.
- Equality Act 2010
- In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its 
           equalities obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the   
           Equality Act 2010.

The Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1 policies which are relevant to 
the proposed development consist of:

CP01  - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
CP03  - Settlement Hierarchy
CP04  - Meeting Our Housing Needs
CP07  - Providing Supporting Infrastructure and Services 
CP20  - Spatial Strategy for Western Vale Sub-Area
CP33  - Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
CP35  - Promoting Public Transport, Cycling and Walking 
CP37  -  Design and Local Distinctiveness
CP39  - The Historic Environment
CP46  - Conservation and Improvement of Biodiversity

The Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011 Saved Policies which are relevant to 
the proposed development consist of:

DC5  - Access
DC6  -  Landscaping
DC7  - Waste Collection and Recycling
DC9  - The Impact of Development on Neighbouring Uses 
DC12 - Water Quality and Resources

The Local Plan 2031 Part 2: Detailed Policies and Additional Sites 
complements the Part 1 plan and sets out policies and locations for housing for 
the Vale's proportion of Oxford's housing need up to 2031, which cannot be 
met within the City boundaries. It contains policies for the part of Didcot 
Garden Town that lies within the Vale of White Horse District, and detailed 
development management policies to complement the Local Plan 2031 Part 1, 
which replace the saved policies of the Local Plan 2011.  It also allocates 
additional development sites for housing.

Page 54



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee - 31 October 2018

Paragraph 48 of the NPPF states that decision-takers may give weight (unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise) to relevant policies in emerging 
plans according to:
• The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the 
           preparation, the greater the weight that may be given);
• The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies 
          (the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight 
           that may be given); and
• The degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan 
           to the policies in the Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging  
           plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may   
           be given).

The Vale of White Horse District Council submitted the Local Plan 2031 Part 2: 
Detailed Policies and Additional Sites to the Secretary of State on Friday 23 
February 2018 for independent examination. The draft Local Plan 2031 Part 2 
is currently under examination.

Overall, taking into account the current stage of preparation, the emerging 
Local Plan 2031, Part 2 now attracts limited weight.

The Draft Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2: Detailed Policies and 
Additional Sites policies which are relevant to the proposed development 
consist of:

CP4a – Meeting our housing needs
CP20a – Housing supply for Western Vale sub-area 
DP16 – Access
DP23 – Impact of development on amenity 
DP28 - Waste collection and recycling
DP 36 –  Heritage assets

Case officer –  Andy Heron
Email            –  andy.heron@southandvale.gov.uk
Contact No  – 01235 422600

Page 55

mailto:andy.heron@southandvale.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Page 56



Page 57



P
age 58



P
age 59



Page 60



Page 61



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 31 October 2018

APPLICATION NO. P17/V2711/FUL
SITE Heritage, 63A Oxford Road, Abingdon
PARISH KINGSTON BAGPUIZE
PROPOSAL Change of use from C3 dwelling house a

7 bed HMO (sui generis).
WARD MEMBER(S) Katie Finch and Helen Pighills
APPLICANT Vincent McMackin
OFFICER Andy Heron

RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that planning permission is granted, subject to the 
following conditions:-

Standard
1 : Time limit - Full Application 
2 : Approved plans

Prior to occupation 
3 : Car parking
4 : Visibility splays

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 This application is referred to planning committee at the Development

Manager’s discretion following a call-in request from one of the local members, 
Councillor Helen Pighills. Councillor Pighills has raised concerns with 
inadequate parking provision and cycle storage for residents and visitors, the 
overdevelopment of the site, and car parking implications on mature trees.

1.2 The site is situated in a highly sustainable area to the east of Oxford Road, 
Abingdon. Abingdon is a market town within the Abingdon-Oxford Fringe Sub- 
Area. A site location plan is provided below:

Page 62

Agenda Item 10



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 31 October 2018

1.3 The site currently consists of a large, modern, detached 5 bedroom dwelling.
The dwelling is constructed of red bricks with a pitched roof, it has an integral 
double garage to the front. The house is situated on a long narrow plot. It is 
set-back from Oxford Road with a large front garden.

1.4 Vehicle access is via Oxford Road to the west. It is important to note that a 
tree listed under a TPO (tree preservation order) is located to the north-west of 
the site. Other TPO listed trees are situated to the east.

1.5 Planning permission is sought for the change of use of the dwelling from C3 
use to C4 use to convert the dwelling to a 7 bed HMO (house of multiple 
occupation). Please note that a change of use from a dwelling (C3 use) to a 6 
bed HMO (C4 use) would normally constitute permitted development. Planning 
consent is required in this instance as a 7 bed HMO is sought.

1.6 No external changes are proposed to the building. Vehicular access will 
remain as existing. On-site car parking spaces will be available for 8 vehicles 
to the front of the dwelling, with cycle storage located to the rear. Extracts from 
the application plans are attached at Appendix 1.

2.1 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.2 A summary of the responses received is set out below. Comments made can 

be viewed in full online at www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk.

Abingdon Town Council Objection. Lack of adequate parking 
provision for residents and visitors,
and the overdevelopment of the site.

Oxfordshire County Council – 
Highways liaison officer

No objection, subject to condition.

Environmental Health No objection.

Scotia Gas Networks (SGN) No objection.

Page 63

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/


Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 31 October 2018

Waste management officer No objection.

Neighbours – 3 letters of objection 
received. The grounds for objection 
concern can be summarised as:

- Loss of mature tree
- Insufficient information
- Traffic and parking 

implications
- Noise pollution
- Over intensification of use

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
     3.1      P90/V1332/DA - Approved (16/05/1990)

Erection of a single dwelling and garage. Land adjoining 63 Oxford Road, 
Abingdon.

4.1 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.2 The application has been considered under the provisions of the Town and 

Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. The 
scale of the proposal is below relevant thresholds and the locality has no 
recognised specific environmental sensitivity. Therefore, an Environmental 
Statement is not required.

5.0 MAIN ISSUES
5.1 Principle of development

The settlement hierarchy set out in Core Policy 3 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 
identifies Abingdon as a market town within the Abingdon-Oxford fringe sub- 
area. Market towns are defined as settlements that have the ability to support 
the most sustainable patterns of living within the Vale through their current 
levels of facilities, services and employment opportunities.

5.2 Market Towns have the greatest long-term potential for development to provide 
the jobs and homes to help sustain, and where appropriate, enhance their 
services and facilities to support viable and sustainable communities in a 
proportionate manner.

5.3 Core Policy 4 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 states that there is a presumption 
in favour of sustainable development within the existing built area of market 
towns. The site is situated within an urban area within close proximity to local 
employment, services and facilities.

5.4 The NPPF is clear that local planning authorities should look to significantly 
boost the supply of housing in line with the principles of sustainable 
development. Core Policy 4 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 sets out the  
Council’s approach to delivering new homes and retaining the housing stock. 
New homes will be located in accordance with the settlement hierarchy outlined 
in Core Policy CP3.

Page 64



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 31 October 2018

5.5 The development is located in the settlement of Abingdon within an area that 
benefits from a range of services. It would bring a residential unit back into use 
in a highly sustainable area of the Vale.

5.6 In view of the above the principle of development is therefore acceptable 
providing it accords with other relevant development plan policies.

5.7 Impact on the character an appearance of the area
The NPPF states that securing high quality and inclusive design goes beyond 
aesthetic considerations. Great weight should be given to outstanding or 
innovative designs which raise the standard of design more generally in the 
area. Permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails to 
take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an 
area and the way it functions.

5.8 Core Policy 37 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 states that new development must 
demonstrate high quality design that responds positively to the site and its 
surroundings, creating a distinctive sense of place through high quality 
townscape that physically and visually integrates with its surroundings. It adds 
that development must be visually attractive, and the scale, height, massing, 
and materials should be appropriate to the site and its surrounding context.

5.9 The property has a spacious garden to the front and is set-behind the building 
line of neighbouring dwellings. There are no proposed external changes to the 
building however, 8 car parking spaces are proposed to the front. The 
proposed car parking area will be screened via mature hedging to the north, 
south and west.

5.10 It is considered that the overall appearance of the site will fit with the general 
scale and features of the surrounding area. Furthermore, the overall 
appearance is proposed to conserve the surrounding street scene. There will 
be adequate amenity space, parking and privacy for the occupants.

5.11 In view of the above the design and appearance of the proposed development 
is in compliance with the advice contained within the NPPF, and CP37 of the 
Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1.

5.12 Residential amenity
Core Policy 37 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1, DC9 of the Local Plan 2011 
Saved Policies, and DP23 of the draft Local Plan 2031 Part 2 are of importance 
with regard to the potential impact upon neighbouring amenity. Policy DC9 
states that development will not be permitted if it would unacceptably harm the 
amenities of neighbouring properties and the wider environment.

5.13 The impact upon neighbouring amenity will be minimal as the dwelling will be 
sufficiently distanced away from neighbouring dwellings. Neighbours have 
raised concerns with noise implications and the over intensification of use. The 
building is large and is situated in a spacious plot away from neighbouring 
dwellings. No external alterations are proposed to accommodate future

Page 65



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 31 October 2018

residents. Furthermore, the Council’s environmental health officer has reviewed 
the proposals and is satisfied that the proposed HMO will not create noise 
levels that would impact on neighbouring amenity.

5.14 It is therefore considered that the criterion contained within Core Policy 37 of 
the Local Plan 2031 Part 1, DP23 of the draft Local Plan 2031 Part 2, and DC9 
of the Local Plan 2011 Saved Policies will be adhered to.

5.15 Highway safety
The NPPF promotes sustainable transport modes, whilst seeking to ensure that 
safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; and any 
significant impacts from the development can be mitigated. Paragraph 109 
states that development should only be prevented or refused on highways 
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.

5.16 Oxfordshire County Council as highway authority have reviewed the proposed 
plans raising no objections, subject to condition. Adequate car parking and 
access is available for the proposed HMO via Oxford Road to the west. The car 
parking meets the County Council car parking standards with one car parking 
space for each resident, plus an additional visitor’s space. Furthermore, the site 
is situated within a highly sustainable area with excellent bus links within close 
proximity that regularly serve Oxford and Abingdon. It must also be noted that 
additional cycle spaces are situated to the rear for future residents to securely 
store their bicycles.

5.17 It is therefore considered that the proposed development will comply with the 
criteria contained within Policy DC5 of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011 
Saved Policies, Policy CP35 of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part  
1, Policy DP16 of the draft Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031, Part 2, and 
the NPPF.

5.18 Impact on TPO listed trees
Policy DC6 of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan Saved Policies 2011 states 
that proposals for development must protect and enhance the visual amenities 
of the site and its surroundings including existing important landscape features. 
Policy CP44 of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1 seeks to protect 
the key features that contribute to the nature and quality of the districts 
landscape from harmful development.

5.19 The Council’s tree officer originally raised concerns with the car parking which 
proposed the removal of a mature Maple tree to the north-west. This tree is an 
important feature of the surrounding area. To protect the tree, the tree officer 
listed the Maple under a tree preservation order (TPO) which was served on 
20th July 2018. Amended parking plans have since been received to overcome 
the tree officers concern. The car parking is now located away from the Maple’s 
root protection area to the south of the site.

Page 66



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 31 October 2018

5.20 The proposed development would protect the TPO listed tree. It is therefore 
considered that the development accords with Policy DC6 of the Vale of White 
Horse Local Plan Saved Policies 2011, and Policy CP44 of the Vale of White 
Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1.

5.21 Other matters
Neighbouring objectors have raised concerns that there has been insufficient 
information provided in support of the proposed application. There were 
discrepancies on the original plans. Officers subsequently requested additional 
information and amended plans to overcome these concerns. All interested 
parties have been re-consulted following receipt of amended plans which 
Officers now consider to be satisfactory.

5.22 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
Policy CP7 of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031, Part 1 states that the 
Council will work with infrastructure providers and stakeholders to identify 
requirements for infrastructure provision and services for new development and 
will seek to co-ordinate infrastructure delivery. The Council has implemented its 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) as from 1st November 2017. Planning 
applications which are decided after 1st November 2017 may be liable to pay 
the levy.

5.23 The proposed change of use does not involve an increase in floor space.  
Under the Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule adopted by Vale 
of White Horse Council and the government Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations, new dwellings and new residential development of 100m2 or more 
will be liable to pay the Community Infrastructure Levy. In this instance the site 
is within zone 1 under which the chargeable rate is £131.33 per m2.

5.24 As such this application is not CIL Liable as there is no increase in floor space.

5.25 Sustainable development
When considering development proposals, the Council is required to take a 
positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development contained in the National Planning Policy Framework.

5.26 The National Planning Policy Framework places a strong emphasis on 
sustainable development. All planning applications must result in sustainable 
development with consideration being given to economic, social and 
environmental sustainability aspects of the proposal. The proposed change of 
use would have a minimal impact upon the local services which operate in 
Abingdon. The environmental considerations have been assessed in terms of 
the impact on the character and appearance of the area, and for the reasons 
given above are considered acceptable. Social considerations overlap those of 
environmental in terms of amenity. As these have been found acceptable the 
development is considered to constitute sustainable development.

Page 67



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 31 October 2018

6.0
6.1

CONCLUSION
The application has been assessed on its merits, against the requirements of 
the adopted Local Plan 2031 Part 1, saved policies of the adopted Local Plan 
2011 and the National Planning Policy Framework. Regard has been given to 
the draft Local Plan 2031, Part 2 but as this is yet to be adopted, it’s policies 
hold limited weight.

6.2 The application will provide an economic and social role via the additional 
residents who will use local services, and business.

6.3 In terms of the environmental role, limited harm has been identified with respect 
to the impact on the surrounding character and appearance of the area.

6.4 There are no technical objections to the proposal, subject to appropriate 
conditions.

6.5 Overall in the planning balance, the benefits of the scheme are considered to 
outweigh the limited harm that has been identified. As such, the application is 
recommended for approval.

This decision has been considered using the relevant policies related to the 
proposal. These are listed below.

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 
the determination of any planning application must be made in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The 
statutory Development Plan comprises;

- The Local Plan 2031 Part 1
- The Local Plan 2011 Saved Policies
- The Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2031
- Neighbourhood Plans for; Drayton, Coxwell, Blewbury, Faringdon, 
           Radley, Great Coxwell, and Longworth.

Other material considerations include government guidance, in particular:
- The National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) (NPPF)
- The National Planning Policy Guidance (March 2014) (NPPG)
- Vale of White Horse Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document 
            (SPD) (March 2015)
- Vale of White Horse Updated Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) 
            (December 2016)
- Draft Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2: Detailed Policies and 
            Additional Sites
- Building for Life 12

Other Relevant Legislation
- Human Rights Act 1998
- The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into 
           account in the processing of the application and the preparation of this 
           report.

Page 68



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 31 October 2018

- Equality Act 2010
- In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its 
           equalities obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the 
           Equality Act 2010.

The Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1 policies which are relevant to 
the proposed development consist of:

CP01  - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
CP03  - Settlement Hierarchy
CP04  - Meeting Our Housing Needs
CP08  - Spatial Strategy for Abingdon-on-Thames and Oxford Fringe Sub- 
              Area
CP33  - Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
CP35  - Promoting Public Transport, Cycling and Walking 
CP37  -  Design and Local Distinctiveness
CP46  - Conservation and Improvement of Biodiversity

The Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011 Saved Policies which are relevant to 
the proposed development consist of:

DC5  - Access
DC6  -  Landscaping
DC7  - Waste Collection and Recycling
DC9  - The Impact of Development on Neighbouring Uses

The Local Plan 2031 Part 2: Detailed Policies and Additional Sites 
complements the Part 1 plan and sets out policies and locations for housing for 
the Vale's proportion of Oxford's housing need up to 2031, which cannot be 
met within the City boundaries. It contains policies for the part of Didcot 
Garden Town that lies within the Vale of White Horse District, and detailed 
development management policies to complement the Local Plan 2031 Part 1, 
which replace the saved policies of the Local Plan 2011.  It also allocates 
additional development sites for housing.

Paragraph 48 of the NPPF states that decision-takers may give weight (unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise) to relevant policies in emerging 
plans according to:

• The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the 
           preparation, the greater the weight that may be given);
• The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies 
           (the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight 
           that may be given); and
• The degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan 
           to the policies in the Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging 
           plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may 
            be given).

The Vale of White Horse District Council submitted the Local Plan 2031 Part 2: 
Detailed Policies and Additional Sites to the Secretary of State on Friday 23

Page 69



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee – 31 October 2018

February 2018 for independent examination. The draft Local Plan 2031 Part 2 
is currently under examination.

Overall, taking into account the current stage of preparation, the emerging 
Local Plan 2031, Part 2 now attracts limited weight.

The Draft Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2: Detailed Policies and 
Additional Sites policies which are relevant to the proposed development 
consist of:

CP4a – Meeting our housing needs 
DP16 – Access
DP23 – Impact of development on amenity 
DP25 – Noise pollution
DP28 - Waste collection and recycling

Case officer –  Andy Heron
Email –            andy.heron@southandvale.gov.uk
Contact No –   01235 422600

Page 70

mailto:andy.heron@southandvale.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Page 71



1 2 3 40 5
Meters

Dc������ 2017

Scale

Date

Drawing Title

Any dimensions given are as
guidance only and should be

checked against site conditions

Existing Rear Elevation

Project

OT Projects

13 Cowley Road, Oxford, OX4 1HP

01865 244178

enquiries@otprojects.co.uk

  www.otprojects.co.uk

1:1�0 @ A3

H��ita��

63A Oxf�r� Roa�

A"#ngd�' ., *X14 2-A

E/is1#n2 E3�va1i�n5

Existing Front Elevation

M� A M7rg89Client

Oxford Trading Limited 2017
Existing Side Elevation (N)

Existing Side Elevation (s)

M:L/017072/=P02

Planning Issue
Not For Construction

©

Drawing Number

P
age 72



P,o pas.eel � Front Elevation 

� Rear Elevation 

ffo.p c.5ed - Side Elevation (s) 

-�-

.J1 <l ;fl<SeJ\.� Side Elevation (N)

Planning Issue 
Not For Construction 

0 

Any dimensions given are as 
guidance only and should be 

checked 11ijainst site c�dillons 

' 4 

OTProlects 

ta ClllltYhlll. hfllf.1111111 
111&5 Kffll 

_ .... 

... ...,_.. .. 

fiori.i,,,ro 
P«1Jaet 

.... 

��A O><f"'"- R,,,,,t 

A�., ox:,..i :v..;,. 

M•AM"'!I"<-

DrawlaDNUlldier MR!./Ol.707;,./PPO:. A

P
age 73



Kitchen

Utility

Bedroom

Bedroom

Garage

En-suite

DiningBedroom

Bedroom

Bedroom

Bathroom

BedroomBedroom

En-suite

1 2 3 40 5
Meters

Drawing Title

H��ita��

63A Oxf�r� Roa�

A��ngd�� ., �X14 2"A

Dc%�&'�( 2017

M( A M,rg-.

Existing Ground Floor Plan

M/L/017072/2P01

Any dimensions given are as
guidance only and should be

checked against site conditions

Client

Date

OT Projects

Project

1:150 @ A3

Drawing Number

Scale

©

E8is:�n; Flo�( Pl-n>

13 Cowley Road, Oxford, OX4 1HP

01865 244178

enquiries@otprojects.co.uk

  www.otprojects.co.uk

Oxford Trading Limited 2017

Existing First Floor Plan

Planning Issue
Not For Construction

P
age 74



Dlol"ll 

Xltohen 

B<><lroom 

Be<hoom 

�Ground Floor Plan

00 
0 

0 
0 

Bodroom 

Bedroom 

BooroM1 l!ooroom 

B>throom 

�, 

�First Floor Plan 

Planning Issue 
Not For Construction 

0 

'"'"' 

Cllefll 

Any dimensions giwn are as 
guidance only and should be 

checke<I against site conditfons 

' ' ' 
"''m 

OTProJects 

13 tllWllll hd.lXllll.&U lHP 
fllli .... 

11qalJIM@llllt'GIK1a.cuk 
... _ 

H...-�, 

�3A D>-f,wrl. Ro..A 

A�.,DXH2AA 

M,AM"")'-< 

D11W1DUTill8 

Sullle 

••• 

lhawlllll MPl!lber MRL./Dt 707;!/PPDt 

@ a.ford ,--,Mi"!} ( .. i...;ted :W'-1 

; 

A

P
age 75



10 150 5 25

Meters

20

5.00m 
x 2.90m

5.00m 
x 2.90m

Existing 
Garden Wall

2M x 2M
Pedestrian 

Vision Splays

A
p
p
ro

x
 2

.5
5

Existing low 
wall to raised 
garden area

5.00m 
x 2.70m

63A

6 Sheffield Cycle Stands  
@ 900c/s on covered

hardstanding -  Position
to be agreed on site.

5.00m 
x 2.90m

O
X

F
O

R
D

 R
O

A
D

5.00m 
x 2.90m

Existing 
Tree 

5.00m 
x 2.90m

5.00m 
x 2.70m

5.00m 
x 2.90m

Project

M� A M�rg�	

H��ita��

63A Oxf�r� Roa�

A��ngd�� ., "X14 2'A

Au)us+ 2018

OT Projects

Date

©

13 Cowley Road, Oxford, OX4 1HP

01865 244178

enquiries@otprojects.co.uk

  www.otprojects.co.uk

Rev A 28.08.18 - Client suggested layout 01

R�.i/e� C�� �n� 

Cy34� P�67�n8

Rev C 26.09.18 - Client email 25.09.18

M9L/017072/=P09C

Scale

Any dimensions given are as
guidance only and should be

checked against site conditions

1:2@0 @ A3

Planning Issue
Not For Construction

Oxford Trading Limited 2018

Drawing Number

Drawing Title

Client

Rev B 07.09.18 - Client suggested layout 02

P
age 76


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	Planning committee minutes - 3 October 2018
	Minutes


	7 P18/V0359/FUL - Parklands School, Besselsleigh, Appleton, Oxford
	P18/V0359/FUL - Parklands School, Besselsleigh, Appleton, Oxford - Appendices
	Coloured Street Elevations MILL170509 SE02 A
	Coloured Street Elevations MILL170509 SE03 A
	Flat Block Elevations FB.e B
	Sheets and Views
	FB.e B


	Site Layout Plan drwgno SL01 B


	8 P18/V1483/FUL - 3 Sandford Lane, Kennington, Oxford, OX1 5RW
	P18/V1483/FUL - 3 Sandford Lane, Kennington, Oxford - Appendices
	Appeal Decision
	Appeal Dismissal Elevations
	Appeal Dismissal Floor Plans
	Appeal Dismissal Site Plan
	Current Application Elevations 1
	Current Application Elevations 2
	Current Application Floor Plans
	Current Application Site Plan


	9 P18/V1820/FUL - Land south of Red Gables, Longcot
	P18/V1820/FUL - Land south of Red Gables, Longcot - Appendices
	1 Location Plan drwgno 1369 04
	2 Block Plan drwgno 1369 S 01 B
	3 Elevation and Floor Plan Existing drwgno 1369 01
	1369-02 Plans and elevations as proposed
	Drainage Plan drwgno 1368 S 02
	Landscape Plan drwgno 1369 S 03


	10 P17/V2711/FUL - Heritage, 63A Oxford Road, Abingdon
	P17/V2711/FUL - Heritage, 63A Oxford Road, Abingdon - Appendices
	1 Location Plan drwgno LOC 001
	Elevations Existing drwgno MRL.017072.PP02
	Elevations Proposed drwgno MRL.017072.PP02A
	Floor Plans Existing drwgno MRL.017072.PP01
	Floor Plans Proposed drwgno MRL.017072.PP01A
	Revised Car and Cycle Parking Plan drwgno MRL.017072.PP09 Rev C





